
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND 

ENTERPRISE SPC 
 

TO BE HELD IN THE REMOTE MEETING-VIA ZOOM 
 

ON TUESDAY 20 APRIL 2021 AT 3.30 PM 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

TUESDAY 20 APRIL 2021
  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of Meeting held 12th Jan 2021   

 
3 - 10 

2   Matters Arising   
 

 

3   Presentation-Dublin City Council Submission to National Recovery & Resilience 
Plan 2021 - 2023- Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES   
 

11 - 52 

4   Presentation-Local Enterprise Development Plan 2021 - 2024, Greg Swift, Head 
of Enterprise & Economic Development   
 

53 - 60 

5   Presentation-Smart Cities Presentation: Smart Tourism, Barry Rogers, Smart 
Tourism Programme Manager, Smart Dublin   
 

61 - 74 

6   Policy-Reset Summit Outcomes Report, Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of 
Enterprise & Economic Development   
 

75 - 92 

7   SPC Working Group   
 

 

a   Tourism, City Markets including Night Time Economy - Completion Report 
 

93 - 100 

b   International Relations & EU Affairs - Extension Request 101 - 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

 102 
8   Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports   

 
103 - 
128 

9   Motion of Notice   
 

 

a   Urban Recovery, Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City Strategy 
 

129 - 
134 

10   Any other Business 
 

Next SPC Meeting: 14th September 2021 (3.30pm – 5.30pm)  

Council Chamber, City Hall (In line with government guidelines operating at this 
time) 

 

 

 



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  1  
 

 

Members Present: 

Cllr. Claire O’Connor (Chair), Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Rachael Batten, Dublin City Council;  

Cllr. Danny Byrne, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Niall Ring, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Donna Cooney, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Mary Freehill, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Michael MacDonncha, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Cat O’Driscoll, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Terence Flanagan, Dublin City Council; 

Cllr. Tara Deacy, Dublin City Council; 

Natalie McGuinness, Dublin Chamber of Commerce; Sectoral Member (Business Rep); 

Aidan Sweeney, IBEC; Sectoral Member (Business Rep); 

Odran Reid, Northside Homecare Service; Sectoral Member (PPN Rep); 

Evanne Kilmurray, Inner City Enterprise (ICE), Sectoral Member (PPN Rep). 

Apologies: 

Dr Sarah Ingle, Assoc. of Consulting Engineers in Ireland (ACEI),  

 

Officials Present: 

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive  

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager  

Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Jamie Cudden, Smart Cities 

Ciara O hAodha, Senior Economic Development Officer 

Grainne Kelly, Head of International Relations 

Presenters 

Wessel Badenhorst, Urban Mode Ltd 

Kieran Mahon, Smart DCU 

Deidre Scully, Planning & Development, DCC  

Spectator  

Cllr. Patricia Roe, Dublin City Council  

 

 

Strategic Policy Committee 

Economic Development & Enterprise  
Minutes of Meeting  

12th January 2021 (3.30pm – 5.30pm) 

Delivered Remotely via MS Teams 

Page 3



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  2  
 

The Chair opened the meeting noting the new Standing Orders which govern the SPC meetings were agreed by Council 

members at the City Council meeting on the 16/11/20.  The Chair noted the requirements for remote meeting of the working 

group and advised of the workings and protocol of remote meetings.  

 

The Chair commended the work carried out by Richard Shakespeare and team in relation to the Reset Summit held on the 

26th November 2020. The Summit brought stakeholders together to pursue policy for the economic development of the 

City and the Chair commended the team on how the Summit was put together with professionalism and the content was 

very forward thinking.  

 

1. Minutes 

Minutes of the previous meeting, which took place on 10th November 2020, were proposed by Cllr. Cooney and 

seconded by Cllr. MacDonncha.  

 

2. Matters Arising 

None  

 

3. Presentation- DCC EU Programme Participation Strategy – Wessel Badenhorst, Urban Mode Ltd 

EU Programmes Participation Strategy 2021-2027 

Wessel Badenhorst, Urban Mode Ltd, presented to the Committee on the Dublin city Council EU Programmes Participation 

Strategy 2021 – 2027. The presentation overview consisted of details on the preparatory process for the development of 

the strategy document including collation of baseline data, information sharing sessions and the EU Policy co-operation 

environment in Dublin. Recommendations for the implementation of the strategy were also presented.  

Comments, Feedback & Questions:  

The Chair thanked the presenter and welcomed in particular the EU projects impact assessment element function of the 

DCC EU Programme Office and welcomed that flexibility and ability to be able to adapt and develop new strategies in line 

with EU budgets. The Chair opened the floor for discussion.  

Question / Comment:  

Cllr. Ring thanked the Chair and the Chair of the Sub Committee for producing such a worthy strategy document under 

such a short time frame and thanked Wessel Badenhorst, DCC Officials and others members of the Working Group. The 

setting up of a DCC EU Programme Office under this strategy document along with alignment axis element was a huge 

achievement in a short time frame and he commended the work of the Chair of the Sub-Committee in establishing this.   

The Chair echoed the sentiments of Cllr Ring and thanked Cllr Freehill and other members of the Working Group for their 

work in producing this strategy document. Cllr. Cooney echoed the sentiments of speakers and thanked the Members for 

their work in producing the strategy document.   The European Commission is advising to focus funding on green and 

digital transition and it is opportune now in 2021 to invest in cycling and smart infrastructure and stressed the importance 

of following the criteria set out by EU re cycling and green funding and stressed the importance of action. Cllr. Freehill 

thanked the Members for kind words and thanked Wessel Badenhorst for his contribution and noted that it was a good 

spring board and beginning. Cllr Freehill asked what Wessel Badenhorst’s terms of reference were and secondly what is 

Page 4



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  3  
 

being done and by whom in relation to programmes being put together for the recovery fund. Evanne Kilmurray again 

echoed the sentiments of the Members and thanked the Group for producing the document strategy.  She acknowledged 

the volume of paperwork and bureaucracy in EU Funding applications and the establishment of a DCC EU Programme 

Office will ease this and stressed importance of making stakeholders aware of the establishment of this office. Cllr. Cat 

O’Driscoll congratulated the Members and DCC Officials on a great piece of work and highlighted the importance of Horizon 

2020 and Erasmus + Projects and how valuable partnership with other groups was and untapped partnerships and the 

need for the other DCC SPC’s to tap into this new office. Odran Reid thanked everyone for their contribution to producing 

the strategy document and echoed the sentiments of Cllr O’Driscoll in relation to Horizon 2020 and Erasmus + Projects 

and engaging with partners in European and importance of embedding ourselves with the EU and how important 

networking was.  

 

Response:  

Wessel Badenhorst responded to Cllr Freehill’s questions by stating that his terms of reference was to develop a strategy 

document, which has been done. He noted that the establishment of this new office will take a period of time and he 

foresaw that structure should be in place within a 6 month period.  

Anthony Flynn advised members that collaboration had commenced with the other SPC’s and discussions had opened 

with the Finance Committee regarding financial opportunities.  The Finance Manager is to highlight this at next meeting of 

Finance SPC and there were synergies with Housing and Transport SPC’s also.  Collaboration would also be with Dublin 

Region, Eastern Midlands Region and national stakeholder such as NRA and Transport for Ireland. These collaborations 

would set the work programme for the new office under the 7 year EU Programmes Participation Strategy 2021-2027.   

 

4. Presentation – Smart Cities District – Smart DCU District – Kieran Mahon, Smart DCU Projects Facilitator, 

Smart DCU 

Kieran Mahon, Smart DCU Projects Facilitator, presented to the Committee on Smart DCU District.  

(See presentation provided in ModGov pack for Jan SPC, circulated in advance of meeting) 

SMART Dublin is an initiative of the 4 Dublin Local Authorities to use new technologies to improve services and quality of 

life in the Dublin Region.  The main topics presented on were SMART DCU, Insight DCU – data analytics, SMART DCU 

piloted Luna E-Scooter precise positioning; SMART DCU piloted Moby shared E-Bike intercampus travel; Solar 

Prospecting Research; Crowd Counting; Mould Sensoring – Ambisense IoT Sensors; IoT sensors on Hydrogen Bus; DCU 

Autism Friendly University; Bentley – funding a Digital Twin Centre of Excellence; SMART DCU – Building a Digital Twin; 

and SMART DCU 2021 Plans.  

 

Comments, Feedback & Questions:  

The Chair thanked the presenter and opened the floor for discussion. 

Cllr.  Ring thanked the presenter and commented on DCU innovation and importance of collaboration between DCC and 

DCU and gave praise around the DCU Autism Friendly University project and how important it is. Cllr. Cooney thanked the 

presenter and commented on how impressive SMART DCU achievements have been., mentioning in particular data 

collection on the transport modes of students coming to DCU and transport around the campus and how the cycleways 

Page 5



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  4  
 

provided by DCC link with DCU plans for students to use cycle as mode of part of their journey. She commended the work 

of researches and the DCU Autism Friendly University project. Cllr. MacDonncha thanked the presenter and asked if E-

Scooters and Moby shared e-bike could be applied to the City and asked if the mould detector project data could be 

provided to Housing SPC. Aidan Sweeney noted in relation to the Insight Centre was there opportunity for other research 

centres to scale up projects in the future and were there any DCC initiatives that DCU could use to scale up these projects.  

In relation to E-scooters and to secure buy in, had the issue of tracking etc. been looked at in more depth by SMART DCU? 

Natalie McGuiness congratulated the presenter on work to date and commented on how the range of initiatives was 

incredible.  She asked if there was any one initiative in particular that is currently being worked on which needs to be rolled 

out further or scaled up. Cllr. Deacy commented on research between SDCC and DCC on foot of European collective 

complaint on mould in social housing and how residents were being blamed for dampness. Community Action Network 

have done a lot of research on it and perhaps SMART DCU should link in with them.  ACTION: Cllr. Deacy to provide 

contact details of Community Action Network to Kieran Mahon, SMART DCU  

 

Response:  

Response to range of questions put to presenter: 

Digital Twin Project is the one project that stands out and is the most important. 

There is a role for E-Scooters but pedestrian and rider safety is key. Location and ability to auto detect hazards are key 

focus of SMART DCU currently.  

In relation to the DLRD Pilot project on Mould detection, Ambisense looks at ways to ensure there are proper air flow in 

buildings without energy wastage and ways to detect mould in advance.  Currently concentrating on large buildings but 

are running a trail for DLRD on public housing at present and Ambisense hope to present to DLRD shortly.  ACTION: The 

presenter agreed to provide that DLRD presentation to Members of SPC when available.  

 

5. Pre-draft Consultation of the City Development Plan – Deirdre Scully, Deputy City Planner  

Deirdre Scully, Deputy City Planner, presented to the Committee on the pre-draft Consultation of the City Development 

Plan.  (See Presentation provided in ModGov pack for Jan SPC, circulated in advance of meeting) 

The presenter gave introduction on the City Development Plan review process under requirements for Development 

Plans, the process and timelines – the review process commenced 15/12/20, Headline issues including Economy & 

Retail. The public consultation process would continue until 22nd February 2021 and members were encouraged to 

share details with their networks.   

 

Comments, Feedback & Questions:  

The Chair thanked the presenter and opened the floor for discussion. 

Cllr. MacDonncha expressed his dissatisfaction in regard to Local Authorities being held to timelines in midst of COVID 

crisis and that there can’t be any meaningful engagement with Councillors or the public under the current pandemic 

circumstances.  He will be writing to the Minister calling for a pause in the process, referring also to a piece of legislation 

pushed through before Christmas in the Oireachtas further restricting public engagement,  He acknowledged that Dublin 

City Council must work within the legislation and Ministerial Orders. Cllr. Cooney asked if the Urban Regeneration Funds 

Page 6



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  5  
 

for Dublin 1 area were in place and stressed importance of brining economic recovery to deprived areas, opportune time 

to bring back enterprise to inner city and plans should focus not just on commercial and tourism but on the creative sector 

and social enterprise sector. Evanne Kilmurray echoed the sentiments of Cllr. Cooney and spoke about innovative 

enterprise spaces and placement within inner city.  The use of smart spaces becoming increasingly important to help 

rebuild economy in inner city areas and spoke about social enterprise. ICE will make submission to the Dublin City 

Development Plan. Aidan Sweeney stressed importance of quantifying what we want for the City, qualify of life and mixed 

use development important.  He put questions to the presenter around benchmarking and use of data analysis, how does 

this economic data interact with the Metropolitan Area Strategic Plan and DCC’s alignment with other stakeholders such 

as Greater Dublin Transport Authority and it’s issues paper which are being published shortly. Odran Reid advised that a 

submission would be made by TUDublin. Cllr. Deacy agreed with comments made by Cllr. MacDonncha, and asked if the 

Councillors on this SPC could draw up a formal objection and directed this to the Chair.  

 

Response:  

The presenter responded to questions advising that DCC were contacting as many organisations as possible advising of 

the process and huge amount of outreach work was currently taking place.  The presenter asked if the Councillors could 

in turn use their contacts to communicate the process with their constituents.  Ministerial Directives was discussed further.  

Dublin 1 area was being looked at with renewed focus and the plan through rezoning will identify key regeneration areas. 

In relation to transport timelines, contact is made with the Transport Authority on a regular basis with the purpose of creating 

connectivity between DCC and NTA’s Development Plans and members were directed to an analysis of current retail 

sector which would be posted on Planning & Development website in the coming weeks.  

Cllr. Cooney advised that the NTA Greater Dublin Strategy was currently open for consultation, deadline 17/1/21, and 

proposed that DCC Planning make a non-specific concept approach submission. Noted by Deirdre Scully.  

The Chair thanked the presenter and advised Councillors to contact Deirdre Scully directly with any further questions. 

 

6. Policy – 2021 Work Programme  

Greg Swift and Mary MacSweeney set out the context of the 2021 strategic work programme of the SPC and provided a 

short verbal presentation on same outlining Mission statement of Economic Development Section; 4 Pillars of Economic 

Development : Human Development, Placemaking & Clusters, Promotion & Investment, Climate & Innovation; SPC Work 

Programme 2021 including Summit Series, Your Dublin Your Voice, Enterprise Space, Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor, 

Dublin Region Enterprise Plan, Dublin Economic Monitor, Dublin Place Brand, DCC EU Programme Participation Strategy, 

Social Enterprise, MODOS, Smart Dublin Finally a discussion took place on role & resources available to support the SPC. 

Greg Swift welcomed any feedback from Members and advised that a final plan will be issued at April SPC. The Chair 

thanked presenters and advised Members to direct any comments to Greg Swift / /Mary MacSweeney.  

 

7. SPC Working Group Progress 

Mary MacSweeney provided a verbal update on both SPC Working Groups as follows:  

a) Tourism, City Markets including Night Time Economy 

Page 7



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  6  
 

The Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economic Working Group met on the 17th December with presentations on 

economic statistics relating to the COVID 19 impact on the tourism, hospitality and night time economy sectors from Julie 

Passmore, Economist, DCC.   Fáilte Ireland provided an overview of the depth and breadth of work completed by Fáilte 

Ireland for the Dublin Region tourism sector in response to COVID 19 impacts.  The working group requested future 

meetings would extend to 1.5 hours with further presentations and discussions. The members were requested to submit 

work programme proposals in writing in preparation of their extension to end March 2021. Extension proposal will go to 

February CPG for consideration.  

 

b) International Relations and EU Affairs  

The International Relations & EU Affairs Working Group met on the 18th December to receive a presentation on work to 

date and the culmination of the EU Programme Participation Strategy which Wessel Badenhorst presented on under 

Agenda Item 3 above.  The work programme of the group is now concluded.  The group have requested an extension to 

their group to end March 2021. The Chair of the Working Group has been requested to submit work programme proposals 

in writing in advance of consideration to progress this request to CPG level. 

Awaiting written proposals for work programme from the Working Group  

 

Question / Comment:  

Cllr. Freehill requested that the International Relations and EU Affairs Working Group meet shortly in order to draft 

proposals for extension of Working Group.  The Chair advised Cllr. Freehill and it was a DCC procedure that a written 

proposal must be submitted and the manner in which that proposal was drawn up, was a matter for the Chair of the Working 

Group and its members.   

Cllr. Cooney suggested that the Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economic Working Group make submission to the 

Dublin City Development Plan Review Process.  

 

8. Economic Development and Enterprise Management Reports  

Copy of Management Reports were provided in ModGov pack for Jan SPC, circulated in advance of meeting 

The Chair advised that the reports were circulated in advance of the meeting and due to time constraints would not be 

presented but opened to the floor for any comments or questions. Members did not have any comments regarding 

management reports. 

 

9. AOB  

a. Motion of Notice  

i. Urban Recovery, Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City Strategy  

The Chair, conscious of time, and the fact that this Motion had not been reached at the November 2020 SPC, made 

proposal to Aidan Sweeney, which was agreed, that DCC Management would provide Aidan Sweeny and other 

Members with a full management report on the Motion  in collaboration with the Finance Department.  The Chair 

advised the motion was not being tabled and that Aidan Sweeney had agreed to accept an extensive management 

report on the Motion.  Discussion from Cllr. Freehill and Cllr. MacDonncha arose around adequate time being provided 

Page 8



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 12 Jan 2021  7  
 

to Motions submitted from Members and how Motions should be dealt with in a timely manner. The Chair accepted 

this.  

Cllr. Freehill directed a query to the Chair in relation to particular wording in the Chair’s report to CPG to which the 

Chair advised Cllr. Freehill to direct further conversations directly to the Chair by email.  

 

b. 2021 – Meeting dates  - Not reached  

 

Next SPC Meeting: 20th April 2021 (3.30pm – 5.30pm) 

 

 

Action items for Progression: 

 

Agenda 

Item: 

Action: Responsibility: 

4 Kieran Mahon, SMART DCU to provide copy of DLRD presentation on early mould 

detection for social housing to SPC members when available  

Kieran Mahon  

4 Cllr. Deacy to provide Kieran Mahon, SMART DCU with contact details for Community 

Action Network in relation to mould detection / Ambisense  

Cllr. Deacy  

5 DCC Planning to make a non-specific concept approach submission to NTA Greater Dublin 

Strategy by deadline 17/1/21 

Deirdre Scully  

7 Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economic Working Group make submission to the 

Dublin City Development Plan Review Process. 

Cllr. Cooney / Mary 

MacSweeney  

9 Management response to be prepared in relation to Motion put forward by Aidan Sweeny.  

Response to be prepared in collaboration with the Finance Department and to be circulated 

to Members.  

Greg Swift / Mary 

MacSweeney  

 

Page 9





Helping Dublin remain 
a premier Global City 
and the Engine Room 
of the Irish Economy

Submission to the National Recovery & Resilience 
Plan Public Consultation Process

FEBRUARY 22/02/2021

Dublin City Council

Rebuilding Dublin:
A Resilient 
Capital City

Page 11



Foreword

Dublin City Council has great pleasure in presenting this submission to the National Recovery 
& Resilience Plan.

The submission addresses challenges and identified opportunities to reimagine the city and its 
neighbourhoods and sets out how key parts of the city can be regenerated, through investment, 
city greening and improved connectivity. It outlines a number of practical proposals which the 
Council believes will contribute significantly to the target areas identified by the European 
Commission and set out in the six EU pillars and the seven EC Flagships areas. It also speaks 
to some of the key actions needed to keep the Dublin economy performing as the engine room 
of the Irish economy and to ensure its long-term recovery and resilience. 

The ambitious priorities set out in the submission, include proposals that will have both a 
short and medium term impact. The proposals take account of an evaluation of the challenges 
and opportunities facing the city. They represent a clear plan of action for the City Council 
to support and deliver the recovery and resilience of the city and to respond to the defining 
global and local environmental, social and economic challenges and opportunities of our time.

The proposals cover the areas of Energy Efficiency; Digital Transformation; Greening & 
Biodiversity; Flood Defenses and Resilience; Public Realm; and Wellbeing with proposed 
projects across a number of Departments to the total value of €464.2M. 

Should Dublin City Council be supported by national Government and the European Union 
via the Recovery and Resilience Facility, the practical actions outlined in this submission will 
contribute to the recovery and resilience of the city, with a particular focus on Dublin city 
centre. Significant multiplier and secondary benefits of delivering on these proposals are 
also anticipated. The City Council is confident that these interventions will be a catalyst for 
a recovery in the Dublin economy for the benefit of local residents, local businesses and the 
wider population in the metropolitan area as well as the country as a whole. 

Owen P Keegan
Chief Executive

Hazel Chu
Lord Mayor of Dublin

2 3Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 12



a) Climate Change 
b) Digital transformation 
c) Affordability of housing
d) City Centre
e) Financial constraints 
f)  Covid19 pandemic

a) Reimagine the city and its neighbourhoods
b) Regeneration of key parts of the city
c) Infrastructure investment
d) Greening the city
e) Experience the city
f) Getting digitally connected

1) Energy efficiency 

Project a: Acceleration of the implementation 
of the Dublin District Heating System (DDHS) 
Project b:  Phase Two Completion and 
Expansion into Phase Three of the Energy 
Efficiency Retrofitting Programme for DCC 
Housing 
Project c: Accelerate the deployment of 
Electric Vehicle Charge Points on Dublin City 
Council premises including public car parks. 
Project d: Piloting a ‘digital ring’ in the Cherry 
Orchard neighbourhood as a means to create 
an energy efficient, low carbon circular 
economy in housing construction.

2) Digital Transformation 

Project e: Transforming the existing lighting 
infrastructure in Dublin city into a smart 
lighting and small cell infrastructure system to 
support 5G telecoms in the city

3) Greening and Biodiversity 

Project f: Significant expansion of the green 
infrastructure in Dublin city centre and use of 
citizen science for effective stewardship of 
local environments.
Project g: Increasing the permeability and 
walkability of Dublin city with a greenway from 
Broadstone on the northside to the Grand 
Canal on the southside

4) Flood Defences and Resilience 

Project h: Increase the provision of nature-
based solutions including street swales, rain 
harvesting and more public space to create 
improved flood resilience in the city centre
Project i: Design of structural works and 
improvements to enhance coastal flood 
defences

5) Public Realm 

Project j: Continue to improve the public realm 
in the city centre as a practical response to the 
Covid19 conditions and the liveability of the 
city
Project k: Continue to improve the public 
realm in the Dublin 8 area as a practical 
response to the Covid19 conditions and the 
liveability of the city

6) Wellbeing 

Project l: Advance a programme to establish 
community wellbeing hubs in targeted areas in 
Dublin city
Project m: Expanding the capacity for 
cultural regeneration that support the artist 
communities of Dublin as well as the creative 
needs of the local populations

4 5Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

G. CONCLUSION

APPENDIX 1

F. PROPOSALS

E. POLICY GUIDELINES AND CRITERIA

D. MAIN OPPORTUNITIES

C. MAIN CHALLENGES

B. CONTEXT

6

8

10

10

15

11

15

11

16

20

20

21

22

23

12

16

24

26

26

28

29

29

31

31

31

32

33

33

34

24

13

17

13

17

36

37

18

20

15

A. BRIEF

Table of Contents

P
age 13



6 7Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

This submission is made to inform Ireland’s National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP) as per 
the invitation from the Department of the Taoiseach published on 2nd February 2021.
This submission is a response to the two questions being asked in this consultation namely:
1. Taking into account the guidance provided by the European Commission, what are the areas 
Ireland should prioritise for 1) investments and 2) reforms for inclusion in our National Recovery and 
Resilience Plan? 
2. Of the Country Specific Recommendations received by Ireland in 2019 and 2020, which are 
considered the most relevant for reflection upon in Ireland’s National Recovery and Resilience Plan? 
(p7)

The aim is to present practical suggestions how the city of Dublin with the support of Dublin City 
Council can utilise the EU facility to mitigate the economic and social impact of the pandemic and 
make one of the important local economies and societies in Europe more sustainable, resilient 
and better prepared for the challenges and opportunities of the green and digital transitions.

In particular, the following guidance from the Department of the Taoiseach is at the heart of the 
proposal:  
“The reforms and investments proposals included in the Plan must seek to address all or a significant 
subset of challenges identified in the relevant country-specific recommendations received by Ireland 
in 2019 and 2020, which arise as part of the European Semester process. They must also be aligned 
with a number of EU flagship areas, including climate action and digital transitions.” (p5)

The NRRP must set out a coherent package of both reforms and public investment projects in 
order to benefit from support and these must be implemented by 2026.  The plan must devote a 
minimum of 37% expenditure to climate (while the remaining 63% of the plan must comply with 
the “do no harm” principle i.e. not undermining environmental objectives) and a minimum of 20% 
on digital investment and reforms.

The NRRP will cover the six EU pillars namely:  

1)   Green transition. 
2)   Digital transformation. 
3)   Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, including economic cohesion, jobs, productivity,    
competitiveness, research, development and innovation, and a well-functioning single market 
with strong SMEs. 
4)   Social and territorial cohesion. 
5)   Health, and economic, social and institutional resilience, including with a view of      increasing 
crisis reaction and crisis preparedness. 
6)   Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills. 

BRIEFA.
Plans should also seek to address seven EC flagship areas identified for reforms and investments 
by the European Commission namely:

1)   Power Up - Frontloading and accelerating future-proof clean power generation technologies 
and the development and use of renewables as well as their integration through modernised 
networks and enhanced interconnectivity. 
2)   Renovate - Improving the energy and resource efficiency of public and private buildings 
that substantially contribute to achieving the EU’s climate objectives, create a large number of 
local jobs throughout the Member States and foster digital development through smart living 
and metering.
3)   Recharge and Refuel - Promoting future-proof clean technologies to accelerate the use of 
sustainable, accessible and smart transport, charging and refuelling stations and extension of 
public transport.
4)   Connect - Fast rollout of rapid broadband services to all regions and households, including 
fibre and 5G networks as well as developing quantum encryption communication.
5)   Modernise - EU-ID and key digital public services should be modernised and accessible to 
all. Secure and EU-wide electronic identification and authentication vis-à-vis governments and 
private actors and access to their services, will provide citizens with control over their online 
identity and data as well as enable access to online digital services. The digitalisation of public 
administration and services will increase the effectiveness of both.
6)   Scale Up - The EU digital transition depends on increasing European industrial data 
cloud capacities and on ability to develop the most powerful, cutting edge, and sustainable 
processors. The aim is to double the production of semi-conductors in Europe, to produce 10 
times more energy efficient processors.
7)   Reskill and Upskill - Investments in re- and upskilling are central to supporting the green and 
digital transitions, enhancing innovation and growth potential, fostering economic and social 
resilience and ensuring quality employment and social inclusion. Investments and reforms 
should focus on digital skills and educational and vocational training for all ages.

This submission outlines a number of practical proposals which Dublin City Council proposes 
will significantly contribute in these target areas. This submission also speaks to some of the 
key actions needed to keep the Dublin economy performing as the engine room of the Irish 
economy and to ensure its long-term resilience.

This submission also includes some Dublin City Council projects that were originally submitted 
for the URDF scheme. The Council is awaiting an announcement of URDF projects that have 
been successful in obtaining funding. However, it is likely that a number of City Council projects 
will not be approved for URDF. It is the Council’s ambition to proceed with as many of its 
projects as early as possible and on a phased basis if necessary. The Council has identified 
the city centre as its priority core area for resilience and recovery and to accelerate project 
implementation, the Council is exploring all funding opportunities and has included its priority 
projects in this submission for the NRRP. 

P
age 14

https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/6760e-public-consultation-on-irelands-national-recovery-and-resilience-plan/
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/TXT/?qid=1600708827568&uri=CELEX:52020DC0575
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/TXT/?qid=1600708827568&uri=CELEX:52020DC0575


Dublin, as the State’s capital, performs a significant economic, administrative and cultural role. 
It is a young, vibrant city that operates as an international City and gateway to the European 
Union for many businesses - multi-national corporations as well as export-oriented local SMEs. 
It is home to significant health, education, retail, cultural and entertainment facilities and 
attractions.  The administrative area of Dublin City Council has a population of 554,554 which 
has been growing at an estimated average rate of 1.5% pa since the 2016 census. 20% of the 
population is 19 years old or younger, making it one of the youngest capital cities in the EU. 

Highly skilled workers are attracted to Dublin for its many career opportunities, with 22% of 
the population born outside of Ireland. It benefits from a highly educated workforce with 40% 
educated to third level or higher. It is also a digitally connected city, where 95% of households 
have fixed broadband. 

Dublin is performing well in a highly competitive global environment for the attraction of 
investment and talent.  Foreign Direct Investment plays a significant role in the city’s economy. 
Dublin is ranked no. 2 globally for ‘Business Friendliness’ and no. 1 for ‘European Headquarters’ 
by fDi. Dublin is home to some of the most influential multinational corporations, with 
substantial clusters in technology, finance and professional services. Within Dublin Docklands, 
there are over 500 firms operating, including more than half the world’s top 50 banks and top 
20 insurance companies. Dublin is also a major global hub for fund administration, aircraft 
leasing, insurance and a range of wholesale banking activities. It takes however considerable 
effort and determination from all stakeholders to hold Dublin’s position in the global rankings 
and to continue to invest in the development of our enterprise eco-system.  For more on 
investing in Dublin, see dublin.ie/invest.

CONTEXTB.

Dublin is a gateway to Ireland and the European Union and this underpins the city’s position as a 
major economic driver for Ireland, accounting for 41% of the country’s GVA. It is a predominately 
services driven economy, which make up approximately 80% of business activity. For more on 
the city economy, see dublineconomy.ie.

Dublin is also an innovative city. The Smart Docklands District, launched jointly by Dublin 
City Council and Trinity College Dublin’s CONNECT research centre in 2018, is an example of 
continued investment in the City, ensuring that Dublin is ready for the future. For more, see 
smartdublin.ie.

According to the Financial Times 2020 Index of Tech Cities of the Future, Dublin ranks no. 3, 
just after London and Paris and before Amsterdam, Berlin and Munich as a major tech city of 
the future in Europe. 

Dublin’s global reputation can be measured using a range of published international ratings, 
which are a useful means of measuring the city’s performance relative to its peers.  In 2020 
Dublin confirmed strengths and weaknesses across a range of dimensions.  In Property 
Investment, Dublin was ranked 12th in Europe for its attractiveness and development prospects 
by Urban Land Institute and PwC.  Robust demand for student accommodation and rental 
housing remained strong, while the outlook for the office market was negative with concerns 
raised over rising vacancy rates. 

Dublin also ranks well as an Innovative City coming ahead of Berlin, London and New York 
ranking 15th in the Ambr Eyewear World’s Most Innovative Cities.  This strong performance 
was driven by Dublin’s rankings for creativity (4th globally), education (10th) and technology 
and media job opportunities (15th).  

Areas for improvement included connectivity where the cost and speed of Dublin’s internet 
resulted in the city ranking 46th out of 50 global locations.  Dublin’s Smart City ranking dropped 
four places to 34th in the world in 2020 IMD Smart City Index.  The decline was precipitated by 
issues around traffic congestion and housing, while performing well in areas such as availability 
of good schools, cultural activities, outdoor amenities and importantly job creation. 

The Housing Affordability challenge saw Dublin perform poorly placed 58th out of 66 countries 
globally in the latest InterNations Best Cities for Expats rankings.  Dublin ranked in last place 
worldwide on the Finance & Housing Index, with over three quarter of respondent describing 
housing in the Capital as unaffordable and hard to find.  

Dublin did perform well for certain metrics, including career opportunities (1st globally), job 
security and work-life balance (both 15th).  Further information on Dublin’s International 
Rankings is available from the Dublin Economic Monitor www.dublineconomy.ie.

8 9Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 15

http:// dublin.ie/invest.
http://dublineconomy.ie.
http://smartdublin.ie.
https://www.fdiintelligence.com/article/77846
http://www.dublineconomy.ie.


The main challenges that threaten disruption of the economic, social and environmental 
conditions in the city of Dublin, can be summarised as follows:

•  Climate change resulting in more and more incidents of extreme weather conditions and 
rising sea levels that leads to devastation of infrastructure and the built environment and to 
the severe disruption of services.
•  The management at city level of the ubiquitous uptake of new technologies, which are 
the major driver for new economic development, especially to manage the disruption of 
traditional sectors and the emergence of a digital divide among residents.
•  A shortage in the supply of affordable and social housing which exacerbates the pressure 
on especially young and middle class families to acquire homes in the city and its suburbs.
•  A set of trends that are disrupting the economy of the city centre, especially its retail 
and hospitality, including the impacts of Covid19 – specifically the collapse of the night-time 
economy and the shift to remote working; consumers shifting to online shopping; and the 
underutilisation of buildings for residential use.
•  Threats to the revenue streams of local government.
•  The impact of Covid19 range from the above mentioned impacts on retail and people working 
in the city centre to the shutting down of the construction and the hospitality sectors. It is 
also anticipated that the post-Covid19 ‘return to normal’ will be different with a more explicit 
consumer demand for health and safety requiring significant adjustments for example to the 
ventilation in buildings.

a)  Climate Change

Dublin City’s geographic characteristics make it vulnerable to sea level rise, flooding, extreme 
weather events, and urban heat islands (i.e. urban areas that are significantly warmer than their 
surrounding rural areas due to human activities).  Considering future projections for climate 
change, the city will face increased vulnerability and risk associated with rising temperatures 
and increasing frequency of extreme 
weather events.  It is anticipated that 
these risks will be exacerbated by 
population growth which will drive 
demand for housing, water, energy and 
food, placing pressure on land-use in 
the city.  

Dublin City Council’s Climate Action 
Plan 2019 -2024 (CCAP) articulates how 
the city is responding to the climate 
crisis by focusing on the areas of energy 
& buildings, transport, flood resilience, 
nature-based solutions and resource 
management. Building resilience to climate change calls for plans and actions to be adaptive, 
responsive, flexible, and just.  In recognition of this Dublin’s CCAP is a living document enabling 
the city to nimbly respond to unanticipated challenges and opportunities, such as the COVID 
pandemic.  

MAIN CHALLENGESC. Dublin City Council recognises that its role is to help the city’s built environment to be physically 
resilient. It also has to work with other key agencies to promote the physical, mental and 
social wellbeing of people – key foundation for the resilience of the city.  
Fundamental to the city’s response to climate change is the collaboration of stakeholders 
on actions to address vulnerabilities created by climate change. The aim should be a just 
transition to a new low carbon climate resilient future dependent on people working in 
concert to respond to the vulnerabilities created by climate change and actively contributing 
to the development and implementation of policy.

The principal goals are to significantly improve clean and renewable energy use by the Council 
that will reduce the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions by 40% by 2030; to make the city 
more climate-resilient with projects that will help the city to withstand future climate change-
related impacts; and to actively engage and inform citizens on climate change.

b)  Digital Transformation
 
The widespread use of information and communication technologies have created a momentum 
for change in the preferences and habits of the general public leading to significant growth in 
the use of online services. On a global scale it is evident that cities who can adapt more quickly, 
have a competitive advantage.

The impact is largely positive with regard to efficiencies and availability of services. It is also 
disruptive for traditional sectors who are slow to adapt. There is also a ‘digital divide’ of haves 
and have-nots that can lead to exclusion, especially among older age groups and people living in 
disadvantaged areas. 

Furthermore, the challenge for the key stakeholders in the city including Dublin City Council is 
that if the rollout of infrastructure to support new digital technologies do not keep up with the 
pace of change and specifications of these technologies, disappointment and frustration will set 
in among the broader public as consumer demand continues to grow.

c)  Affordability of Housing
 
The challenges to provide adequate social and affordable housing in Dublin is a topic that receive 
regular attention in the media and among politicians from all parties.
Even though over 40 Strategic Housing Developments (SHDs) have been granted permission on 
infill brownfield sites throughout the City in the past five years, there are however, large areas of 
the City, well served by existing and proposed infrastructure and public transport, that remain 
undeveloped or underdeveloped. Concentrations of underutilised lands are evident in a number 
of areas of the City such as the Liberties, the North East Inner City and the Naas Road area. 

10 11Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 16

https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2021-02/2020.10.27_2020-dcc-ccap-update-report_0.pdf
https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2021-02/2020.10.27_2020-dcc-ccap-update-report_0.pdf


The population in the city centre of Dublin is continuing to become younger, more diverse and 
cosmopolitan. City centre retail, amenities and services will have to adapt to their needs. For 

example, a high proportion of the 
population are living alone, which could 
give rise to loneliness as a major mental 
health issue.

Both the EMRA Regional Spatial 
Economic Strategy and the existing 
Dublin City Development Plan 
acknowledges the primacy of Dublin City 
Centre for commercial development. 
Creating the ‘carrying capacity’ for new 
development is a challenge, especially if 
there is not a significant reduction in car 
dependency among city users.

A central issue however, is that the city 
centre is underpopulated following a 
depopulation trend over decades. A 
priority for Dublin City Council is to work 
with key stakeholders to create the 
conditions that will entice more people 

to want to live in the city centre. The challenge is not only to build more housing, but to improve 
public spaces, local amenities and to increase the range of recreational activities that will make 
the centre attractive for a new residential population.

There are specific elements that will need to be improved and managed to produce better 
outcomes for the city centre economy. Foremost is the night-time economy and perceptions of 
health and safety.

d)  City Centre

f)  Covid-19 Pandemic
 
The impact of Covid19 is a ’live story’. The positives include a significant reduction in car traffic 
in the city centre and the extensive use of public space for ‘active mobility’ purposes. These 
trends have had a positive effect on the reduction of greenhouse emissions. 

The disruption caused by the Covid19 pandemic is largely the adverse impact on the city 
economy and the delivery of services. The major challenge is that the scale of the problem 
is not yet known.  The Council is working from a likely scenario that includes the following 
assumptions (Source: City Development Plan Issues Paper):

•  Ongoing restrictions in terms of international travel may reduce the volume of movement  
     of both labour and capital between countries, thus having implications both for new      
     Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) and for mobile workers. 

To ensure an integrated development process where aspects such as housing, work places, 
transport, water and drainage, communications connectivity and the development of key 
amenities are all addressed, impact on the speed to progress new housing developments. In 
particular, developments of significant size that can address the shortages are also dependent 
on the progress being made with major infrastructure projects such as the Bus Connects, Luas 
expansion and the Metrolink public transport schemes.

It is national policy to plan for compact growth. The reasons are compelling ranging from the 
minimising of the impact on the natural environment to the improved efficiencies in services. This 
means changes to the traditional house building patterns. The resistance to change however also 
leads to delays and disputes which slows down the process of obtaining planning permission. 
The cumulative effect of these conditions and processes are often delays in construction and 
increases in costs.

e)  Financial Contraints

In their Analytics Note #3 published in January 2021, the Emergency Governance Initiative (the 
partners are UCLG, LSE and Metropolis) concluded the following challenges for municipal 
finance across cities globally:

•  On average cities are experiencing a 10% loss of income and a 5% rise in demand on     
     services.
•  More financially independent municipalities may have suffered higher income losses      
     because intergovernmental transfers were among the least affected sources of revenue.
•  Municipal budgets have become more volatile with implications for financial sustainability  
     in the short to medium term. 
•  As a consequence of budget shortfalls, municipalities are reallocating capital investments    
     to finance operational programmes. 
•  In the survey most cities expected the economic challenges amplified by the pandemic to    
     be even more serious after the health emergency has passed.

Dublin City Council experienced a shortfall in all incomes in 2020 that support the delivery 
of operational services – commercial rates, parking charges, planning fees.  The value of 
government support has not yet been confirmed but is likely to be in at or above €190m.  This 
uncertainty of financial supports for 2022 is mirrored in the absence of certainty for 2021.

Similarly, all other capital funding sources contracted in 2020 – development levies broadly 
halved.  There is no government assistance for this loss in funding. Only social housing 
projects are grant funded and such national funding has continued.  All capital projects bar 
social housing, whether part grant funded or wholly funded by Dublin City Council, have been 
impacted by the lack of capital funding with increased uncertainty on commencement and 
scope of projects.

In the context of the National Resilience and Recovery Plan (NRRP), it will be essential that 
funding provided to the local government sector is made by way of grant and not borrowing.  
The capacity does not exist either for Dublin City Council or indeed across the local government 
sector, to service the quantum of borrowing required to fully engage in the NRRP. 

12 13Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 17



•  The impact on sectors such as discretionary retail, tourism, hospitality and personal         
     services is the most severe and the implications will be long lasting where recovery will    
     depend on changes such as improved health and safety measures. 
•  There is likely to be a weakening in demand in the office market at least in the short to    
     medium term.
•  Travel restrictions and limited contact hours at third level institutions will dampen the     
     international student market. 
•  The delays in construction directly attributable to site restrictions will further exacerbate a  
     crisis of housing affordability. 

The Dublin economy is at the heart of the Irish economy and Covid19 restrictions have had a 
severe impact on Dublin businesses throughout 2020 and into 2021.  Restrictions have deeply 
hurt specific sectors of the Dublin economy such as retail, and have driven up the number of 
recipients of unemployment supports in the Capital.  It is difficult to make a future assessment 
of how’s Dublin’s economy can rebound due to the uncertainly of Covid19 restrictions which 
ebb and flow and the on-going impact of Brexit.  The IMF’s models assume social distancing 
will fade as a vaccination is rolled out fully by the end of 2022.  

Technological University Dublin (TUD) has published a report in December 2020 outlining the 
impacts of the pandemic on Irish enterprise. One of the main conclusions is that the consumer 
behaviour patterns will have altered in significant ways to reduce the prospect of similar retail 
activity and spend which will have been the norm for instance in Dublin city centre pre-Covid19.  
Furthermore, the pressure on supply chains and distribution caused by the constraints on 
physical engagement, has created a catalyst for digital transformation. 

The challenges for the city of Dublin identified in this submission are also the conditions 
for opportunities to change for the better. The aim for the Dublin economy is that a broad 
coalition of stakeholders will work together to ‘Build Back Better’ in a post-Covid19 world 
using the crisis as an opportunity to make our services and society more resilient to face 
future health, environmental and economic shocks.

a)  Re-imagine the city and its neighbourhoods
 
Foremost is the opportunity to reimagine our neighbourhoods both in the city and also in the 
suburbs. The existing urban structure based on separation of places to work, live and play, 
have become counter-productive with people living further and further from where they work 
or go to school or participate in leisure activities. Unfortunately this has resulted in sprawl and 
an overreliance on private transport by car. 

In recent years the concept of the 15-minute city has been popularised especially by the initiatives 
of the mayor of Paris. The core idea is that a significant proportion of a city’s population should 
live within a 15 minute radius of their work and amenities reachable by sustainable transport 
modes. The concept follows on from the rise of the importance of ‘walkability’ in US cities 
where sustainable living is measured to the extent where residents and visitors have a sense 
of freedom to walk and cycle to the destinations that are places within their reach in the city.

If Dublin is reconfigured with this vision in mind, then the goal of the significant reduction in 
greenhouse emissions is reachable because the need to extensively travel by car is reduced. 
It will also be a significant benefit to public health and safety with reductions in noise and air 
pollution. 

b)  Regeneration of key parts of the city
 
To deliver on such a reconfiguration will require extensive regeneration of large parts of the 
city. Elements of these regeneration processes could include the application of new urban 
design with an emphasis on a compact urban form and improved streetscapes that prioritises 
decluttering and better public amenity; the provision of wider pedestrian and safer cycle 
space; the repurposing of existing buildings whether disused or underused with an emphasis 
on multi-use and temporary use where appropriate; the greening of the public realm especially 
with extensive street tree planting schemes and identification of areas for rewilding thus 
contributing to more biodiversity; and the application of smart city technologies to make the 
management and maintenance of infrastructure much more efficient.

14 15Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

MAIN OPPORTUNITIESD.

P
age 18



c)  Infrastructure investment
 
The city is also due for a general upgrade in its digital infrastructure that includes a widespread 
roll out of 5G mobile and high speed fixed fibre networks as well as the retrofitting of the 
housing stock with better insulation to meet higher environmental standards.

The city centre is in a process of change with further pedestrianisation of streets and the 
realignment of public transport to better serve the needs of commuters, especially pedestrians 
and cyclists. The aim is to make the centre a more pleasing experience for residents and 
visitors alike – a living city. This will mean the removal of on-street parking where appropriate 
and the creation of more cycle ways. The investments that Dublin City Council is making are 
also catalysts for private investment as the increased attraction value of the city centre will 
incentivise private developments especially to enhance the retail and hospitality offer and to 
increase the residential capacity in the city.

d)  Greening the city
 
Dublin city has a reputation for 
green infrastructure which can 
be attributed to the foresight and 
forbearance of predecessors for 
hundreds of years. 

This historical green DNA of 
the city can be a catalyst for a 
number of climate actions to 
significantly expand elements 
such as the number of tree 
canopies and urban forests to 
cool neighbourhoods as well 
as the  nature-based solutions 
for surface water management 
and prevention of flooding. In 
addition creative projects to 
increase biodiversity in built 
environments can capture the 
public imagination such as 
starting local pollinator plans and 
using citizen science to identify 
local species and learn to protect 
those species.

Through initiatives such as the 
Dublin Biosphere and local 
community placemaking projects 
local residents can be active 
participants in greening the city 
and rebuilding biodiversity.

e)  Experience the city 

f)  Getting digitally connected
 
Building on the success of the Smart City and wider Smart Dublin regional initiatives, there is an 
opportunity for Dublin City Council to move beyond pilots and demonstrators to focus on large 
scale adoption of applications and services that take advantage of Internet of things, big data 
and future connectivity networks such as 5G. 

What will the ‘new normal’ be post-Covid19? What will excite local residents and workers as well 
as visitors about the ‘offer’ of the city centre? Data of retail volumes during the year of 2020 
shows that where there was a limited easing of the Covid19 lockdowns, the city’s hospitality 
sector responded well. For example, the volumes of seated diners on Saturdays from online, 
phone and walk-in reservations had, quite remarkably, largely recovered in the summer months - 
despite capacity restrictions and limited inbound tourism. (Source: Mastercard Spending Pulse)

This is an indication that the city’s retail areas will continue to have attraction value post-Covid19, 
which can be enhanced with a suite of support activities in public spaces such as placemaking 
and free family entertainment and play activities, which will increase the daytime experience, 
together with a coordinated and managed approach at night-time to ensure the comfort and 
safety of diners and revellers.

Through the Smart Dublin Programme, Dublin City Council in collaboration with Enterprise 
Ireland has delivered one of the largest pre-commercial procurement smart city programmes 

in Europe  namely the Small Business Innovation Research 
(SBIR) Programme. This programme issued 12 challenges 
and worked with over 42 companies to support a range of 
city challenge areas from waste management, flooding, 
last mile delivery, smart mobility and illegal dumping. 
This programme has been instrumental to providing 
opportunities to local companies to validate technology 

while it has also helped change internal mindset to the potential to investment in the new 
technologies and accelerate digital within the organisation. 

The adoption of new technologies is underpinned by the City Council’s digital transformation 
agenda, which is focused on enabling digital service delivery, digital working and a data-
driven culture. The Council’s Citizen Hub initiative encompasses a new Citizen Portal for online 
services, a new Councillor Portal to enable digital interaction for Elected Representatives, and a 
new Customer Relationship Management System. This will provide the essential platform that 
enables online access and digital service delivery across the broadest possible range of citizen-
facing services, and connects citizens with their services in new and improved ways. Other 
enabling initiatives, such as a new data management strategy, enhanced mobile working, as 
well as the opportunity for digital first and innovative approaches that have been accelerated 
by the adoption of remote working and the agile responses to COVID-19, form part of the 
Council’s plans for digital transformation.

Getting digitally connected can also be essential for health and wellbeing. The creation of 
virtual activity hubs under the leadership of the Dublin City Sports Partnership is an excellent 
example of using digital tools to connect people and make them feel part of community in a 
time of utmost personal strain under Covid19 conditions while helping them to improve their 
own physical activity levels. This initiative reaches young and old, abled and disabled as well as 
people living in families or on their own.

16 17Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 19



The Council’s goals and objectives articulated in the  Corporate Plan 2020 - 2024 of Dublin City 
Council provide a framework to realise these opportunities, namely:
 
i)  To work towards achieving a green, low carbon city -
 a.  By improving energy efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Dublin City    
   Council buildings and operations and make Dublin a more climate-resilient City with        
                   engaged and informed citizens. 
 b.  By working in partnership with adjoining authorities and relevant stakeholders to     
                    conserve, enhance and promote the biodiversity of Dublin City.
 c.  By providing robust leadership in advancing climate action at local and regional         
                    level and by showing commitment to change in our own practices.

ii)  To build safe, thriving neighbourhoods –
 a.  By delivering quality homes on the required scale.
 b.  By creating mixed neighbourhoods that have a choice of housing type and tenure.
 c.  By effectively contributing towards making housing more affordable.
 d.  By addressing homelessness through three key areas of operation – prevention,     
        protection and progression.
 e.  By playing our part in ensuring safety for people in their homes, businesses and in       
                    the public realm.

iii)  To continue to grow a strong, diverse economy -
 a.  By proactively supporting the creation and strengthening of micro, small and    
                    medium sized enterprises in the city.
 b.  By planning and providing for the future economic growth of the city by           
                    understanding and responding to new economic trends.
 c.  By strengthening the competitiveness of the City Region through continued                      
collaboration with our neighbouring authorities and building on our international                        
connections.

iv) To promote compact growth with connected infrastructure -
 a.  By taking a leadership role in collaborating with city partners to expand and build a  
                    more integrated public transport system in the city.
 b.  By providing and supporting a range of alternative and emerging travel options,        
                    particularly focused on cycling and walking.
 c.  By providing direction and vision around digital infrastructure provision to enable      
                   the city to capitalise on the opportunities provided by emerging technology.
 d.  By encouraging and facilitating sustainable densities and best use of underutilised,  
                    vacant and brownfield land.
 e.  By maintaining and enhancing our public realm providing a connected, universally       
                    accessible set of quality public spaces and connections.
 f.  By, in partnership with Irish Water, managing and improving Water Services         
                   infrastructure.

POLICY GUIDELINES AND CRITERIAE.
v)  To support and engage active, inclusive communities -
 a.  By providing people with the opportunity to access outdoor recreation and natural  
                   environments through enhancing and expanding our network of parks and green         
                   spaces.
 b.  By facilitating active citizenship in city communities and engagement with key        
                    stakeholders.
 c.  By promoting social inclusion and diversity by working with, and empowering,      
                    groups  across all sectors of the community.
 d.  By improving the health and well-being of communities by increasing access to         
                    participation in sports, recreation and healthy activity.

vi)  To sustain a vibrant cultural life – 
 a.  By celebrating and promoting the history, culture and literary traditions of the city       
                   to build on their value to the city’s identity, to society and to the economy.
 b.  By enabling diversity in access to arts and culture to give everyone the opportunity   
                    to participate.
 c.  By facilitating educational opportunity through programmes and funding.
 d.  By animating city spaces by providing and supporting a range of events, festivals    
                    and opportunities for people to celebrate and come together.
 e.  By supporting and encouraging the provision of arts and cultural facilities to ensure   
                   that the cultural life of the city has the space to thrive.

vii)  To become a more responsive, innovative City Council – 
 a.  By supporting a culture of innovation, training and development.
 b.  By promoting our vision, achievements and services through improved, proactive    
                    communication.
 c.  By strengthening our civic leadership role and make collaboration a fundamental    
                    part of the way we work.
 d.  By continuing to focus on providing Quality Customer Service to deliver the best    
                    service possible to citizens and customers.
 e.  By transforming our use of technology and data in decision-making and service    
                   delivery.
 f.  By working to place human rights and equality at the core of how we perform our    
                   functions.

The type of actions to deal with the main challenges in the Dublin economy and for social 
cohesion in the city are furthermore addressed by the country-specific recommendations from 
the European Commission for the post-Covid19 recovery in Ireland.  These can be summarised 
as follows:
•  Support employment through developing skills.
•  Increase the provision of social and affordable housing.
•  Support SMEs through measures ensuring liquidity.
•  Frontload mature public investment projects and promote private investment to foster    
     economic recovery.
•  Focus investment on the green and digital transition, in particular on clean and efficient         
     use of energy, sustainable public transport, water supply and treatment, research and     
     innovation and digital infrastructure.

In each of the above mentioned areas, Dublin City Council is a key provider.

18 19Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 20

https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-06/dublin-city-council-corporate-plan-2020-2024.pdf
https://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-06/dublin-city-council-corporate-plan-2020-2024.pdf
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1591720698631&uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0507
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1591720698631&uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0507


PROPOSALSF.
Five criteria have been applied to propose practical proposals that will address the challenges, 
while tapping into the opportunities and aligning with the recommendations from the 
European Commission, namely:

1.  Choose existing actions/plans that can be accelerated to create a much more                     
     significant impact.
2.  Scale successful pilots, especially innovations which are proven to make the city                         
     smarter and more efficient.
3.  Ensure delivery in a short to medium term timespan – not further out than two                        
      years.
4.  Give a projection of the strategic benefits of each proposal ranging from  stimulating local  
     jobs to providing new training and skills development opportunities to having multiplier    
     effects in local supply chains and in cost savings for families.
5.  Identify key stakeholders for collaboration and support.

The following areas have been prioritised:
 a) Energy efficiency
 b) Digital transformation
 c) Greening and biodiversity 
 d) Flood defences
 e) Public realm
 f)  Wellbeing

URDF Submissions:  This submission also includes some Dublin City Council projects that were 
originally submitted for the Urban Regional Development Funding URDF scheme. The Council 
is awaiting an announcement of URDF projects that have been successful in obtaining funding.

1)  Energy Efficiency 
Project a: Acceleration of the implementation of the Dublin District Heating System 
(DDHS)

Summary:
District Heating (DH) are thermal energy networks that distributes hot water through insulated 
dual (supply and return) pipe lines to homes and businesses for space heating, hot water and 
industrial purposes.  DH systems allow heat energy as distinguished from fuel to be bought 
and sold as a commodity.

The Dublin Waste to Energy Facility (i.e. the incinerator) is the primary heat source for the 
proposed network.  The Facility is currently managing 600,000 tonnes of non-hazardous 
residual and industrial waste and export approximately 60 MW of electricity to the national 
grid.  The boilers, turbine and condensers installed at the Facility have been designed to 
operate as a high efficient combined heat and power facility with the ability to export up to 
90MW of thermal energy to heat buildings from day one.

Dublin City Council and the State has committed to progressing the DDHS, focusing on 
supplying heating to residential and commercial buildings in the Dublin Docklands and the 
Poolbeg Peninsula. 

The Project is expected to take up to five years (between 2021 and 2026) for full installation 
and commissioning of the network, with customer connection and realisation of the benefits 
being delivered on a phased basis. 

Dublin City Council has entered into discussions to secure long term demand from a hospital 
and university campus (c. 25 % of demand).  Additionally, the planning authority has placed a 
planning obligation on a large new development located in the target market area to ensure 
the development is district heating enabled.

Ask
Estimates for construction of distribution system = €89.5m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart Sustainable and inclusive growth;
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience.

EC Flagship: 
 •  Power Up – Clean technologies and renewables

Project b:  Phase Two Completion and Expansion into Phase Three of the Energy 
Efficiency Retrofitting Programme for DCC Housing

 Summary:
The DCC Energy Efficiency Retrofitting Programme is designed to reduce energy consumption, 
greenhouse gas emissions and demands for non-renewable resources in Dublin City Council’s 
housing stock. It also provides tenants with healthier living conditions and offers significant 
monetary savings on heating costs.

20 21Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 21



Ask
Phase Two completion of 2,770 units = €25m
Phase Three frontloading for completion of another 2,000 units by 2026 = €70m 

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart Sustainable and inclusive growth;
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience.

EC Flagship: 
 •  Renovate – Energy efficiency of buildings

Ask
Total costs including equipment, power supply, cabling, ducting and general civil works = 
€16.7m
Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart Sustainable and inclusive growth;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience.

EC Flagship: 
 •  Recharge & Refuel - electric and hydrogen chargers

Project c:  Accelerate the deployment of Electric Vehicle Charge Points on Dublin City 
Council premises including public car parks

 Summary:
Dublin City Council is transitioning its fleet of vehicles to fully electric by 2024. The lease 
arrangement on 73% of our light commercial fleet expires 2023/24 and it is proposed to replace 
these with light commercial EVs suitable to the workload. 
This requires the installation of suitable charge points in all depots and work areas. The proposal 
is to install recharging infrastructure over the next two years to allow for the procurement 
and rollout of EVs in large numbers in 2023/24.

Furthermore, as part of the Dublin LA EV Charging Strategy, the proposal is to deploy an EVCP 
network across the Dublin Metropolitan Area will be aligned with mobility hubs (e-bikes/
scooters, public transport nodes).

This will enhance the capability of the city infrastructure to support sustainable urban mobility 
and the goal of the 15 minute city through the encouragement of car share clubs and the 
alignment of EV charging). It also suggests that the strategy aligns with, and would serve 
to reinforce, the Council’s active travel objectives and would maintain/free up public realm 
space; a process already underway in our response to the Covid19 pandemic. 

18 rapid charging hubs, each with 6 charge points, are proposed, to be located in DCC owned 
public car parks and facilities both in the City Centre and across the five locally managed areas, 
with approximately 50% in the city centre and the remaining hubs located in the outlying areas.

The general model for each hub is to have six charge points varying from 22KW to 175KW that 
will serve local residents (open all night), business (including car share clubs and taxis), and 
service/facility users.

State aid limitations notwithstanding, there appears to be more scope for capital investment 
from central Government in EVCPs that are located on Council owned land and such assistance 
is under active consideration.

Project d:  Piloting a ‘digital ring’ in the Cherry Orchard neighbourhood as a means to 
create an energy efficient, low carbon circular economy in housing construction.

 Summary:
Dublin City Council has partnered with IES to develop a positive energy neighbourhood in Cherry 
Orchard, as part of an application for EU Funding.  The overarching concept for the project is to 
pilot the concept of a ‘digital ring’ which endeavours to introduce circular economy principles 
into the construction sector. The digital ring is a framework that enables the full valorisation of 
low carbon materials, technologies and processes from the planning and financing phases to 
the end-of-life repurposing.  In other words providing a full lifecycle assessment of the impact 
all project inputs in various combinations, allowing for decisions to be made based on their 
carbon emissions, energy efficiency, social, environmental and economic impacts.  

Further, the Dublin pilot specifically targets social housing with households in energy poverty 
combining the provision of on-the-ground administrative and technical support along with 
ability to co-design innovative solutions for the most suitable renovation technologies.

The main focus is to upgrade existing housing stock with new insulation materials and with 
better heating distribution and monitoring of energy use. The following specific works were 
carried out thus far in Phase Two on 896 social houses with 2,770 houses still to be completed, 
namely: External Wall Insulation; 300mm Attic, Tanks and Pipes Insulation; Roof and Wall 
Ventilation; Draught Proofing; Replacement of Windows and Doors; Installation of Hot Water 
Cylinders; and installation of Heat Pumps.

The Programme started in 2013 when Phase One commenced and was completed in 2018 
with 8,057 social houses upgraded at a cost of €14.8 Million which was 100% funded by the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government.

Phase Two of the Programme is only partially funded by the Department with Dublin City 
Council expected to contribute €25m. To accelerate the project will require frontloading the 
funding targeted for Phase Three so the existing tender can be extended to start in 2021/22 
and run through to 2030. The target for Phase Three is to do a minimum of 400 units per year 
at a cost of €14m per annum. 

22 23Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 22



Ask
€20m

Contribution to NRRP

EC Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Digital transformation
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience

2)  Digital transformation 
Project e: Transforming the existing lighting infrastructure in Dublin city into a 
smart lighting and small cell infrastructure system to support 5G telecoms in the city

Summary:
The impact of Covid-19 has highlighted the importance of current and future connectivity 
needs. In a world where remote working is a necessity, we need to future proof our cities, 
towns, and communities, to support more flexible working options in a way that protects 
Ireland’s future competitiveness.  Cities like Dublin are also moving towards an increasingly 
connected society driven by the Internet of Things (IoT), Artificial Intelligence and Big Data.

The application and impact (both societal and economic) of these emerging technologies, 
however, will be reliant on the unimpeded ‘gigabit’ connectivity that 5G will provide.

Dublin City Council’s deployment of a 5G testbed in the Docklands has highlighted importance 
of local authorities to support the deployment of small cell infrastructure. Unlike previous 
generations of mobile network technology that were mostly based on low-band spectrum, 
5G is being deployed in higher frequency bands in order to provide a dramatic capacity 
increase. The only way to achieve a high level of network density is to radically reduce the 
size of these sites (referred to as small cells) so that they can be installed on street furniture 
such as lighting assets, bins and bus stops.

Dublin City Council is establishing a telecoms unit to accelerate Dublin’s recovery potential 
and to leverage the broader innovation potential of gigabit and 5G connectivity. This project 
will scale the existing best practice work underway in the docklands area to the wider 
administrative area of Dublin City Council in the next five years as per the city’s new five-year 
future connectivity plan.

The DCC telecoms unit will also play a critical role in the coordination between stakeholders 
such as mobile operators, infrastructure providers and local authorities in the design, planning 
and deployment phases of 5G so as to strengthen the future competitiveness and potential 
of the city economy.

At the same time the existing lighting infrastructure can be significantly upgraded using 
LED technology that has advanced significantly in recent years. It is no longer acceptable to 
emitting light in all directions in the hope that the required light actually reaches the area that 
it is intended. The use of LED lighting can and will greatly reduce the negative effects that 
uncontrolled light causes, giving rise to undesired environmental issues such as Sky Glow, 
Light Glare, and Light Spill. Furthermore, the reductions in energy consumed as a direct result 
of upgrading to LED technology can lead to a financial saving of more than 50%. 

It is envisaged to deploy a city wide extendable open protocol intelligent Central 
Management System (CMS) for the entire City of Dublin where all lighting infrastructure will 
be interconnected with several possibilities for managing of lighting as well as other smart 
Internet of Things (IoT) services.

Ask
Total works to transform existing infrastructure and deploy new telecoms unit and CMS = 
€69.7m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Digital transformation
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and  
                   skills.

EC Flagship: 
 •  Connect – Rollout of rapid broadband services

This project will bring to fruition social and economic opportunities that will be aligned with 
the principles of a just transition.  

The project is to be completed over 5 years.  It will begin with a 15 month process of community 
engagement to fully understand the needs of citizens and co-design solutions.  Based on 
this process works will commence in the second year in month 16.  The long timescales for 
community engagement and its continuation after works commence is essential.  The project 
will involve providing the community with improved housing, access to green spaces and 
transport routes, continuous engagement and collaboration are essential to this. 

The potential initiatives to be co-designed with community input:
 •Investigating the potential for extending the Anaerobic Digestion technology to                
                 horse manure and associated waste from horse bedding.  As well as determine the     
                 potential to including connection to a new build.
 •Use of turning local waste into heat for existing and new buildings, and the        
                 potential of food waste for heat generation. 
 •High performance retrofit to ensure Cherry Orchard is an exemplar decarbonisation  
                 zone that uses digitalisation of the construction sector and modern methods of     
                 construction. 
 •Retrofit of 500 homes as part of a sustainable energy community. 
 •Construction of new positive energy buildings, with a target of 200 residential units     
                 and 3 commercial buildings.
 •Introduction of digital e-bus solution for the community of Cherry Orchard.  Using           
    the expertise of GaiaGO, the experiences of Cherry Orchard residents will be explore  
        and used to inform other initiatives across the city in support of the New European     
                Bauhaus  initiative. 

24 25Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 23



3)  Greening and biodiversity
 
Project f: Significant expansion of the green infrastructure in Dublin city centre and 
use of citizen science for effective stewardship of local environments

Summary:
The residents of the inner city and the people working in the city centre have a basic need 
for better green infrastructure providing focal meeting points, green spaces, flood resilience 
and good air quality. Investment in such infrastructure will make a dramatic impact creating 
healthier living and working conditions and a better quality of life.

Several factors have contributed to a poor situation in the city centre and especially in the inner 
city neighbourhoods such as combined sewer systems impacting on water quality, poor air 
quality, extremely high soil sealing (‘concreting’), low carbon sequestration, low tree canopy 
cover, low habitat diversity, high transport emissions, flood risk and social deprivation.

Furthermore, high nutrient runoff leads to the release of untreated or partially treated sewage 
to watercourses, which together with flooding due to of lack of stormwater attenuation and 
green spaces, negatively impact on protected species and habitats of international importance 
in Dublin Bay, a UNESCO Biosphere.

According to recent EPA reports in 2019 and 2020, concentrations of NO2 at many locations 
in Dublin city centre are potentially above EU NO2 annual limit value of 40μg/m3 (micrograms 
per cubic metre), resulting in air pollution with health risks for the local population. 

The results of a study by UCD Geography Dept in 2014 showed that Dublin city centre has the 
lowest overall green infrastructure (GI) points scored for cities in Ireland and the second lowest 
tree canopy cover of all the European capital cities. In response local Greening Strategies 
were developed in The Liberties, North East Inner City, Stoneybatter,  and the Markets. To 
date, partial implementation of these Greening Strategies have produced the ‘day-lighting’ 
of 16,000m2  of hard stand paving; the planting of 600 mature trees and the provision of two 
new public parks. The complete roll-out of the four strategies will help to address the historic 
deficit and improve the liveability and resilience of the city and the health of the people who 
reside there. 

The green infrastructure plan-making process generated several community engagement 
activities, which in aggregate showed a demand from the communities of the inner city for 
the provision of green infrastructure that greatly exceeds the existing budget allocation.

Furthermore, in collaboration with other Dublin local authorities, a build-out of a large-scale 
citizen science and environmental monitoring programme for Dublin is in train. This will be 
delivered by building on the ‘Academy of the Near Future’ initiative, a partnership between 
Dublin City Council and TCD and UCD, which are empowering citizens and communities to 
deploy sensor kits that can collect data, deliver new insights and empower / influence local 
government to drive change and influence policies. 

If fully funded, the following actions will be 
taken to dramatically improve the green 
infrastructure in the city centre:

 •  Acceleration of the implementation of the existing Greening Strategies including the  
                   planting of an additional 6,040 trees.
 •  Redesign and reconfigure existing streets to introduce spaces for new tree planting  
                   to ameliorate air pollution, trap pollutants, store surface water to increase investment  
                   and biodiversity.
 •  Development of an extensive citizen science programme where local residents become  
                   stewards of their local environments with the monitoring of air quality and tree health  
      using digital technologies as well as developing skills to be active stewards of  local green    
                   infrastructure. 
 •  Completion of the Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Strategy for the city centre  
                   by a multi-disciplinary team to provide the technical specifications for future    
                   developments and rectification.
 •  Implementation of an educational strategy to include digital learning, citizen science for  
                   collection of environmental data and raise environmental awareness among residents in  
                   the inner city.
 •  Facilitation of placemaking to develop the concept of time and space for street play 
      and games as part of children and young people’s engagement with the built and natural  
                   environment.

The outcome of the project will be that 
the local residents and businesses will 
have access to live data on tree canopy 
cover, carbon sequestration, stormwater 
attenuation volumes, provision of habitat 
and food resources for wildlife, amelioration 
of wind, noise and air pollution abatement, 
species composition and potential thermal 
cooling.

The project will make a fundamental contribution to the improvement of the conditions for public 
health in one of the worse affected areas in Ireland while also showing the country’s firm commitment 
to the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

Ask
Total works to transform existing infrastructure and deploy new telecoms unit and CMS = €69.7m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Digital transformation
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

EC Flagship:
•  Reskill & Upskill – Education and training in green and digital transition skills

26 Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

27

P
age 24

https://nearfuture.ie/


Project g: Increasing the permeability and walkability of Dublin city with a greenway 
from Broadstone on the northside to the Grand Canal on the southside

Summary:
The proposal is to develop a high quality and attractive dedicated pedestrian and cycle route 
and greenway through the north and south inner city from Broadstone to the Grand Canal.  
An integral part of the proposal is to provide urban regeneration along the route to reinforce 
existing communities in the north and south inner city and create the basis for an attractive 
and vibrant regeneration of the fruit and vegetable market district in the north inner city 
which has declined over the last two decades.  

This infrastructure will be a high quality, sustainable and inviting route for residents, 
commuters, students and tourists.  The renewed activity and interest will drive significant 
urban regeneration along the route and its wider catchment.

The development of the Grangegorman campus of Technological University Dublin will bring 
a significant new population of students and staff to the area.  While Grangegorman enjoys 
excellent public transport links to the city by LUAS or bus, the walking and cycling facilities 
are poor - being mostly along busy vehicular roads.  The development of this proposal will 
provide an attractive alternative green route, which is both sustainable and safe, for travel 
to and from the campus, linking the campus to north and south inner city and between the 
Grand and Royal Canal.

The proposed scheme will include a new pedestrian bridge across the River Liffey and establish 
a new and highly visible facility within the inner city, connecting people, communities and 
destinations, and catalysing regeneration.  It will be exemplar in its design and will underpin 
the repositioning and renewal of these parts of the north and south inner as a highly attractive, 
liveable and enjoyable place to live, work and visit. 

Ask
Design and build = €27m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

4)  Flood defences and Resilience
 
Project h: Increase the provision of nature-based solutions including street swales, 
rain harvesting and more public space to create improved flood resilience in the city 
centre

Summary:
Over the last number of years there has been a dramatic increase in flooding events across 
the Dublin region. 

This proposal is based on the multi-disciplinary approach from Dublin City Council to address 
structural and systemic issues to strengthen flood defences and the resilience of the local 
environment to be able to adapt to the changing weather patterns i.e. heavier rainfall events 
that are posing existential risks to our local habitat for all species.

Four main areas need priority attention in the city centre namely pluvial flooding, water and 
air pollution and biodiversity loss. The Dublin City Council sections of Parks, Biodiversity and 
Landscape Services; Water Framework Directive Office; Flood Projects and Smart Cities are 
collaborating to deliver a range of interventions.

The aim is to expand the capacity of the city centre to retain surface water. Street swales 
can store around 250 litres of rain water per m2 of surface area. The proposed development 
of 21,655m2 of extra swales will store around 5,400m3 of rainwater, thereby preventing this 
quantity of dilute foul sewage and other pollutants from the combined sewer network getting 
into the city’s watercourses and into Dublin Bay Biosphere.

The further development of 14,600m2 of public open space will further reduce flooding and 
sewage spillages into local water bodies by at least a further 1,500m3 as well as providing 
areas of local interest, local biodiversity and improved air quality.  

The project area has almost exclusively a combined sewer drainage network. This means that 
the foul drainage and the stormwater are in one drainage pipe network. This network, much 
of which is over 100 years old, can only take a limited amount rainwater before it is full and 
overflows into waterbodies. Even moderate rainfall causes combined sewer overflows and 
flooding locally. The proposal is to engineer new water works to separate surface water flow 
so as to not enter into sewerage systems.

28 29Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 25



Having access to timely information to help prioritise responses is critical for emergency 
management. While having access to a dense network of sensors and historical data can help 
modelling and predictive analytics which can support emergency planning and response. The 
evolution of internet of things and battery powered sensing allows cities and policy-makers 
access to real time environmental data that can support better decision making and policies. 

The Dublin Smart City programme has delivered a number of active pilots and demonstrators 
to address flooding and climate resilience. The Gully Monitoring Challenge was launched in 
2017 to seek innovative solutions that could improve local authority responses to flooding. It 
was a partnership between Dublin City Council and Enterprise Ireland, as part of Small Business 
Innovation Research (SBIR) Programme and working closely with the gully monitoring team 
Dublin City Council. This involved the co-design of low-cost devices with the City Council with 
local companies Danalto and mSemicon to pilot 50 bespoke, low-cost gully sensors. The 
proposal is to scale this successful pilot to cover all gullies in the city centre.

Ask
The costs for scaling the successful pilots and public space improvements = €8.9m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Digital transformation;
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

Ask
Design and build of additional elements = €15m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;

Project i: Design of structural works and improvements to enhance coastal flood 
defences

Summary:
The Dublin Coastal Flooding Protection Project is primarily aimed at addressing the risk from 
tidal flooding around the coastline and within the tidal reaches of a number of the rivers and 
canals.

There is currently a budget of approximately €15 million available for completion of this project. 
This budget will only provide the bare minimum of a flood defence, cycle path and water main 
to 3km of a coastal area.

The proposal is to seek additional budget to provide additionality to the project such as:
 •  Improved flood defence design to make it as interactive as possible with its      
        surrounding environment and less visually obtrusive
 •  Enhanced landscape design to the promenade
 •  Additional public amenities
 •  Elements such as public lighting to improve usability and safety as a public amenity  
        for local people
 •  Improved biodiversity and environmental measures to mitigate the overall impact    
                   of the defense

5)  Public Realm
 
Project j: Continue to improve the public realm in the city centre as a practical response 
to the Covid19 conditions and the liveability of the city

Summary:
The plans and proposals to improve the public realm in the city centre predates the Covid19 
pandemic, but since then have been proven to be a priority response to the needs of the population 
of the city during the pandemic with a prediction of a continued value placed by the population 
on improvements to liveability in the city centre. 

The fast tracking of the public realm improvements in the following streets of the city centre are 
proposed:
 •  Along the Civic Spine in the Dame Street East Area as part of the College Green Plaza   
      Project. The Dame Street East Area comprises the section of Dame Street between  
      Anglesea Street and South Great George’s Street; the 3 gyratory streets north of       
      Dame Street consisting of Anglesea Street, Cope Street, and Fownes Street Upper;   
            and the 3 streets south of Dame Street consisting of Trinity Street, Saint Andrew’s      
                   Street and Church Lane – project area = 9,403m2. 

30 31Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 26



•  Along the Civic Spine at Dame Street West and Lord Edward Street - project area =         
     7,298m2. 
•  Along the principal streets of the Markets Area including Mary’s Lane and Little Mary’s     
     Street, Halston Street, Little Britain Street and Greek Street – project area = 12,492m2.

These plans would provide holistic detailed design guidance for public realm works to be 
undertaken by Dublin City Council and the National transport Authority, and leverage private 
sector investment by developers in regenerating the area. A suite of Part 8 planning applications 
will be commissioned and a programme of capital works implemented.

Proposed public realm improvements works will comprise maximising footpath widths and 
minimising vehicular carriageway widths, reducing traffic volumes and flow to local traffic and 
access only, specifying high quality natural paving materials and street furniture, restoring 
existing historic surfaces and features, incorporating tree-planting, biodiverse greenery and 
an extensive system of SUDS (sustainable urban drainage systems). 

The proposals are to incorporate best practice in universal design and environmental 
sustainability

Ask
Planning, design and build costs =€34.6m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

Ask
Planning, design and build costs =€8.2m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

Proposal K: Continue to improve the public realm in the Dublin 8 area as a practical 
response to the Covid19 conditions and the liveability of the city

Summary:
A Public Realm Improvement Plan is proposed for Newmarket Square, Dublin 8 and surrounding 
streets including Brabazon Street, Newmarket Street, Mill Street, Mill Lane and Ward’s Hill.

The proposed works are designed to create a high quality, multi-functional market square 
and city wide destination and to improve permeability throughout the area via enhanced links 
across Cork Street to the north and Mill Street to the south. The aim is to encourage day and 
night time activities around the public open spaces and create a public realm that prioritises 
walking, cycling and easy street crossing with particular emphasis on pedestrian priority. It is 
also intended to enhance public lighting in the area to avoid blind spots and unsafe areas as 
well as improving and encouraging the cultural and tourist offer of Newmarket Square and its 
environs.

Provision is also being made for physical and environmental improvements to Meath Street 
and its immediate environs to support the ongoing commercial rejuvenation of this historic 
market street. The plan will provide for an improved pedestrian environment on the street, 
enhanced provision for cyclists, and will rebalance space along the street to stimulate new 
commercial uses and activities. The plan also includes the provision of improved services and 
utilities, the renewal of street furniture and the provision of tree planting and landscaping.

6)  Wellbeing
 
Project l: Advance a programme to establish community wellbeing hubs in targeted 
areas in Dublin city

Summary:
The provision of community facilities is a well-established need in many communities in Dublin city. 
A main factor inhibiting wellbeing is the lack of meaningful work (i.e. on a more consistent and 
long-term basis than ‘gig’ or errand work) in areas with historical high long-term unemployment.

This proposal will advance the building of new community wellbeing hubs which will be facilities 
that support a number of services as well as spaces for community-led initiatives. The model 
will be based on the learning from the development of the Ballymun Civic Centre which houses 
various health and wellbeing services from a number of agencies together with arts and enterprise 
development support facilities such as the social innovation hub. 

Two specific areas will be targeted:

 •The Darndale, Belcamp and Moatview areas

The Darndale Socio-Economic and Community Plan was drawn up in 2019-2020 in response to the 
escalating levels of violence in these areas of North Dublin. The flagship development will be Phase 
2 of the Darndale Belcamp Village Centre including a new enterprise centre and improvements to 
the physical environment of the area e.g. planting, landscaping and bio-diversity projects. Cost = 
€17.5m

32 33Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 27



 •Emmet Road, Inchicore

Dublin City Council has earmarked the Emmet Road Lands as a major site for redevelopment 
including a flagship pilot project to provide Cost Rental accommodation. This is a new form 
of renting and will result in more affordable rent, for households who struggle to pay private 
rent. It aims to create secure housing that remains sustainable over time.

One of the key objectives is to transform the Emmet Road Area and to create a vibrant and 
diverse neighbourhood, to integrate with the immediate context and history as well as applying 
best practice to establish architecturally innovative, energy efficient, residential supplemented 
and supported by community facilities, including a library and crèche and a neighbourhood 
centre including a supermarket fronting onto the northern edge at Emmet Road.

The detailed design is driven by a placemaking agenda including promoting shared spaces that 
enhance the lives of both the residents and the surrounding community, and encourage social 
activity.

This proposal is to fund the community facility elements, by creating a community wellbeing 
hub that will also feature enterprise support, a library, crèche and a sporting facilities. 
Cost = €21.4m

Ask
Planning, design and build = €38.9m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;
 •  Policies for the next generation, children and youth, including education and skills.

Ask
Construction period of two years with a costing = €24m

Contribution to NRRP

Pillars: 
 •  Green Transition,
 •  Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth
 •  Social and territorial cohesion;
 •  Health and economic, social and institutional resilience;

Project m: Expanding the capacity for cultural regeneration that support the artist 
communities of Dublin as well as the creative needs of the local populations

Summary:
Wellbeing is also measured in the means to support people to culturally express themselves 
and connect with others. These needs can be well served with appropriately designed cultural 
facilities serving a range of purposes and audiences.

The overall concept is to build a Creative Campus that links to NCAD and the Digital Hub in 
the Liberties and forms part of the overall cultural regeneration of various sites in Dublin 8 
including DCC Rates Office, Dublin Castle and Werburgh Street. 

The City Arts Office received funding from the URDF to conduct a Feasibility Study on sites 
and building owned by DCC to provide Artists Workspaces. The site is at Bridgefoot Street 
and the buildings at 8 and 9 Merchants Quay. This Feasibility Study based on co-design and 
consultation with Artists and Local Residents will be completed in March 2021.

From the consultations it is clear that users will like to see the development to respect 
the heritage of the area and to reflect the Liberties’ rich contribution to the city’s skills, 
craft and trades (in particular in weaving and textiles) as well as the local community’s 
pride in its industrious past. These values strengthen the future potential for a 
contemporary creative neighbourhood of makers and artists that are embedded in its 
community.

Those consulted also articulated that the project should not shy away from tackling 
challenges of meeting long-term needs, and our collective responsibility to develop 
greener and healthier buildings, workspaces and environment, with a shared sense of 
ownership for the development of future uses, governance and management.

Surveys of Artists and Community Groups have confirmed the deficit of Artists 
Workspaces and that community groups and Artists can share these facilities through 
careful planning and management. The proposed design will include Public Spaces at 
ground level, semi Public bookable spaces and Private spaces such as Artist’s Studios.

The site on Bridgefoot Street could accommodate up to 30 Artists in private space  with 
shared spaces for rehearsals and classes. A Public café is proposed on the ground floor. 
Number 8 Merchants Quay holds the old St Anthony’s theatre and the building has 
great community Arts centre potential. Number 9 Merchants Quay, a fully restored 18th 
century townhouse is likely to be most suitable for administration and shared office use

34 35Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 28



CONCLUSIONG
If supported by national government and the European Union via the Recovery and Resilience 
Facility, Dublin City Council is demonstrating with this submission how the grant funding of a 
set of specific practical proposals will significantly contribute to the recovery and resilience 
especially in Dublin city centre. The multiplier and secondary effects have not been processed 
due to time limitations, but Council is confident that these interventions will be catalysts 
and create positive momentum in the Dublin economy to the benefit of local residents, local 
businesses, the bigger population in the metropolitan area as well as the country as a whole.

Below is a table to show how the proposals will create a broad impact as per the framework 
provided:

Appendix 2: Key Proposals Proposed Budget
Dublin City Council Submission to the National Recovery & Resilience Public Consultation Feb 2021

36 Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

P
age 29



Dublin City Council
National Recovery & Resilience Plan Submission

This submission was developed by Dublin City Council with assistance from Urban Mode Ltd.

Page 30



Dublin City Council 
submission to the 
National Recovery & 
Resilience Plan 
2021 - 2023

Economic Development & Enterprise SPC 

20 th April 2021

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, 

Culture, Recreation & Economic Services 

P
age 31



National Recovery & Resilience Plan
Ireland’s Public Consultation 

02.Feb.21 22.Feb.21

 The Department of An

Taoiseach launched a public

consultation process.

 Deadline for the receipt of

submissions.

 National Recovery & Resilience Plan originates from the EU’s

Recovery & Resilience Facility

P
age 32



What is the Recovery & 
Resilience Facility?

The EU’s plan for recovering from the 

Economic & Social Damage of the 

CoronaVirus Crisis

The EU’s Recovery and Resilience Facility 

(RRF) aims:

 To mitigate the economic and social impact 

of the pandemic 

 To make European economies and societies 

more sustainable, resilient & better 

prepared for the challenges & opportunities 

of the green and digital transitions.

P
age 33



What is the Recovery & 
Resilience Facility?

The RRF is the key element of the 

€750bn Next Generation EU/Recovery Plan. 

Investments, reforms & new jobs in areas 

that affect all Europeans

The Recovery and Resilience Facility (the 

Facility) will make €672.5 billion in loans & 

grants available to support reforms and 

investments undertaken by Member States.

P
age 34



How does Ireland get involved?

Ireland is expected to receive €853m in 

grants under the RRF in 2021 & 2022

Further grants will be allocated in 

2023

In order to access funding, Ireland 

must develop a National Recovery and 

Resilience Plan (NRRP) for approval by 

EU.

Ireland’s NRRP being prepared by:

Dept of Public Expenditure & Reform

Dept of An Taoiseach

Dept of Finance 

Dept of Ent, Trade & Employment 

The Regional Assemblies discussed 

with DPER in relation to their input 

into the NPRP. 

Ireland’s Public Consultation 

2nd – 22nd Feb 2021

P
age 35



National Recovery & Resilience Plan:
Must Align with EU Pillars & EC Flagships

SIX  EU PILLARS

Green transition

Digital transformation

Smart, sustainable and inclusive 

growth

Social and territorial cohesion

Health and economic, social and 

institutional resilience

Policies for new generation, Children 

& Youth 

SEVEN EC FLAGSHIPS

Power Up - Renewal power generation

Renovate - Retrofitting/deep renovation

Recharge & Refuel – electric and 

hydrogen chargers

Connect - 5G coverage

Modernise - digitisation of public 

administration

Scale Up - cloud services, Big Data, semi 

processors

Reskill & Upskill - digital skills, 

education reform

P
age 36



Dublin City Council 

Submission to NRRP:

Development 

• Public 
Consultation 
announced

2nd Feb

• Internal 
Working 
Group 
established

4th Feb
• Project Brief 

presented to 
Senior 
Management

9th Feb

P
age 37



Dublin City Council 

Submission to NRRP:

Development 

• All Depts
provided 
Submission 
Proposals

11th Feb

• Evaluation 
process 
completed of 
35 proposals 

18th Feb
• Presentation 

to CPG for 
consideration

19th Feb

P
age 38



Dublin City Council 

Submission to NRRP:

Development 

•Final document 
content signed 
off by Senior  
Mgt

22nd Feb

•Final Graphic 
Design 
Completed 

22nd Feb
•Final 

Submission to 
Dept of An 
Taoiseach

22nd Feb

P
age 39



Dublin City Council Submission 
Context

Dublin City Challenges:

Climate Change

Digital Transformation 

Affordability of Housing

City Centre

Financial Constraints 

Covid-19 Pandemic

Dublin City Opportunities:

Re-imagine the city and its 

neighbourhoods

Regeneration of key parts of 

the city 

Infrastructure investment 

Greening the city 

Experience the city

Getting digitally connected

P
age 40



Dublin City Council Submission:

35 Proposals Across Organisation

35 

Proposals

Received

P
age 41



Dublin City Council Submission:

Evaluation Process: Prioritisation of Projects  

Identify

6 EU Pillars 
Alignment

Identify 

7 EC Flagships 
Alignment

DCC Capital 
Programme 

Cross Reference

URDF 
Applications 

Cross Reference

Evaluation
Matrix

P
age 42



Dublin City Council Submission:

Evaluation Process: Project Matrix  

P
age 43



DCC Final Submission Contained: 

7 sections 

37 page document 

13 potential projects to the value of €464.2M

Highlighting 6 proposal areas: 

Energy Efficiency

Digital Transformation

Greening & Biodiversity

Flood Defences & Resilience

Public Realm 

Wellbeing

Dublin City Council 

Final Submission: Content

P
age 44



Dublin City Council 

Final Submission: Content

P
age 45



Dublin City Council 

Final Submission: Content

P
age 46



Dublin City Council 

Final Submission: Content

P
age 47



Dublin City Council 

Final Submission: Content

Priority Area: Proposed Budget:

EC Flagship Proposals €287.6m

Pillar Proposals (Non EC Flagships) €176.6m

Total Proposed Budget €464.2m

P
age 48



National Recovery & Resilience Plan

Next Steps – Member States

P
age 49



National Recovery & Resilience Plan

Next Steps – 2021 Timeframe

20th April 

Advanced 
Development 

30th April 

Submitted to EU 
Commission

May – June

EU Commission

Assessment

July

EU Council 
Assessment

August

Ireland’s NRRP 
Published

20th April:

Development of Ireland’s NRRP is now at an 

advanced stage

30.April: 

It is expected to be submitted to the 

Commission 

May – June:

The Commission will then take 2 months to 

assess Ireland’s plan 

July: 

The Council of the European Union will then 

have up to 4 weeks to consider the 

Commission's assessment and adopt an 

implementing decision by qualified majority.

August:

Dept would expect Ireland’s plan to be 

published on Gov.ie website after 

engagement with the Commission.

P
age 50

https://scanner.topsec.com/?u=Gov.ie&r=show&d=1962&t=61e15a41951ba2da87cfa9175fb339b79fa647f2


Q & AP
age 51





Local Enterprise Office Dublin City

Development Plan 2021-2024

Economic Development and Enterprise SPC 

20th April 2021

Greg Swift

Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 
LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

P
age 53



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

1 Context
• LEDP is for 2021-2024 a 4 year Plan.

• DRAFT approval from LEO Unit / Department of 
Trade Enterprise and Employment

• 2018 CSO GVA Dublin is a Services’ based economy 
c.82% 

• Manufacturing and Construction combined 
accounting for c.19% 

• Employed expected to have fallen by 32,000 with 
COVID

• Retail & Wholesale (+15% YoY) due to online activity. 

• Professional Services and ICT also saw the numbers 
of employees grow by 4% YoY in Q4 2020 

P
age 54



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

2 Vision/Mission & Objectives

LEO Vision: 

To develop and sustain a positive enterprise ecosystem 

throughout Dublin City that will in particular drive new 

added-value start-ups, the further growth of small and 

micro enterprises and enhance local economies. 

Mission Statement: 

We aim to promote entrepreneurship, foster 

sustainable business start-ups and develop existing 

micro and small businesses to drive job creation and to 

provide accessible high-quality supports for your 

Business ideas. 

P
age 55



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

2 Objectives
Entrepreneurs and Businesses are 

supported to: 
• Increase exports 

• Build resilience 

• Increase productivity 

• Prepare for the Low carbon economy 

• Embrace the Digital economy 

• Innovate 

• Be managed by ambitious & capable 

individuals 

• Fuel regional growth 

P
age 56



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

3 Strategic Priorities
The LEO Dublin City Business Advisors will use the LEO 

support services, Dublin City Enterprise ECO system to 

encourage and advise client companies to become:

• More Competitive, 

• Digitised, 

• Green and Sustainable, 

• Innovative, 

• Increased Exporting and Internationalisation, 

• Improve their Management Skills and Leadership 

• Engage in more Networking. 

A new Consultancy Panel of Experts in these areas is being 

formed. 

P
age 57



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

4 Actions & Activities
The following protocols govern dissemination of information, 

information signposting and inter-organisation referrals. Local 

Enterprise Office Dublin City will continue to implement these 

protocols on an on-going basis and review locally as required. 

• Department of Social Protection 

• Credit Review Office 

• Fáilte Ireland 

• Microfinance Ireland 

• Skillnets

• Education and Training Boards (ETBs) 

• Revenue 

• National Association of Community Enterprise Centres (NACEC) 

P
age 58



LocalEnterprise.ie

#MakingItHappen

6 Delivering the Strategy
• LEO Dublin City is funded annually by Government through Enterprise 

Ireland from the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment 
(DETE). 

• LEO Dublin City commits to the 2021-2024 Learning and Development 
plan for LEO staff for business development skillset to support our clients 
in the ever-changing business environment. 

• A collaborative approach between Enterprise Ireland and the LEO’s to 
address the strategic priorities across Entrepreneurship, Competitiveness 
and Digitalisation, Green/Sustainability, Exporting/Internationalisation 
and Innovation. 

• A Best Practice approach will be adopted to deliver programmes such as 
the Professional Business Advisor programme, Green for Micro, Finance, 
Social Media and other business pillar programmes accordingly. 

• Annual Metrics will be agreed an an annual basis during each of the 4 
years

P
age 59



Thank You

Q&A

Greg Swift: gregswift@leo.dublincity.ie

P
age 60



Economic Development 
& Enterprise SPC

P
age 61



Smart Tourism Programme

Dublin City Council has teamed up with Fáilte Ireland and Smart 

Dublin to support a new work stream focused on Smart Tourism. 

By developing specific projects, research and partnerships, it 

aims to identify future trends relevant to the tourism industry and 

how these might inform current and future tourism related 

projects and stimulating economic recovery across the Dublin 
region.

P
age 62



Smart Tourism Leaders 

Smart Dublin 

Fáilte Ireland 

Dublin City Council 

P
age 63



Governance & Stakeholders   

Smart 
Dublin 

DCC

Fáilte 
Ireland 

Smart 
Tourism 

P
age 64



Smart Tourism- Definition  

A smart destination is an innovative space, accessible for all, 
established on a cutting edge technology infrastructure which 

guarantees sustainable development of the land, facilitates the 
interaction and integration of the visitor with the surroundings 

and increases the quality of their experience in the destination, as 
well as the quality of life of residents.

P
age 65



Smart Tourism: Best Practice 

P
age 66



Smart Tourism Infrastructure 
Macro

Technology 
Solutions 

AI Marketing Data Sources

Transport 
Infrastructure

Experience 
Development 

Traffic Control Smart 
Sensors/Smart Bins

Policy 
Development

Academia Path to Purchase

Cycling Infrastructure 

P
age 67



Smart Tourism Infrastructure 
Micro

Tourism Trail Apps Journey Planner Data Assessment

Insights and 
Analytics

Visitor Orientation
Smart Tourism 
Lens 

Partnerships and 
Collaboration 

Best in Class 
Experience Design 

VR & AR

P
age 68



Current Work Streams

The Programme for this partnership will be delivered under the following four headings
throughout 2021 and 2022:

Tourism Trail Apps Journey Planner

Data Assessment
Digital Transformation/ 
Smart Tourism Lens 

P
age 69



Mobile App for Heritage 
Trail(s) Dublin

P
age 70



Digital Trails 

P
age 71



Orientation

P
age 72



MINDMAP

Visitor

Orientation

City 
Mapper

Visitor 
Orientation 

Development 
Plan

Clear 
Channel 
Kiosks

Digital 

Transformation

Experience 
Design

Best 
Practice 

Approach

Advice & 
Advocacy 

Smart Tourism 
Lens

Ad hoc 
Projects

Digital Trails

Mobile App 
For 

Heritage 
Trails 

Tender

Digital Trails 
Audit 

Dublin

Best 
Practice 
DesignGuidance & 

Advice 

Digital Trails 
Toolkit  & 
Working 
Group

Data &

Insights

Best 
Practice 

Approach

Data & Insights 
Group 

Data 
Analysis

Dublin 
Recovery

Digital Trails 
Webinar

Best 
Practice

Approach P
age 73



Barry Rogers
Smart Tourism 
Programme Manager
Smart Dublin
Phone: (0) 86 075 4792

P
age 74



Reset Summit 2020

Outcomes Report 
Economic Development & Enterprise SPC

20th April 2021

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head Of Economic Development & Enterprise 

P
age 75



Reset Summit 2020

 Hosted on 26th November 2020

 Part of Annual Summit Series

 An initiative of EDE SPC

 Partnership with the Department 

of Enterprise, Trade and 

Employment 

 Chaired by SPC Chair, 

Cllr Claire O’Connor

P
age 76



Reset Summit 2020

 Fully Remote Event via Zoom 

 Live Streamed via Public-I 

 25 Speakers

 4 Panel Discussions

 Keynote Speaker

 300 Registered Attendees

P
age 77



Reset Summit 2020

 Discussions from Public, Private, HEI, 

Government & Business

 Key Stakeholders

 Share Insights

 Valuable Platform to exchange 

ideas

P
age 78



Reset Summit 2020 
Preparatory Process

Aug – Sept 2020

Research Development 

Economic Context

Covid Impact 

Recovery Opportunities 

Sept  – Oct 2020

Panel Discussion Development

Programme Development

Speaker & Moderator Invites

Oct – Nov 2020

Programme Completion

Pre-Event Marketing

Speaker Briefing Sessions

Tech Platform Set Ups & Testing

P
age 79



Reset Summit 2020 
26th November 2020

P
age 80



Reset Summit Aims:

Share Knowledge & 

Perspectives

Obtain Insights & ideas to 

inform policymakers

Highlight Opportunities for 

Collaboration

P
age 81



Contextual Speeches

Welcome:

Lord Mayor of 
Dublin Cllr 
Hazel Chu

European
Context:

Commissioner 
McGuinness

Dublin Region 
Context:

Declan 
Hughes, Asst 

Sec Gen, DETE

Dublin City 
Context:

Richard 
Shakespeare, 

ACE, DCC

P
age 82



Contextual Speeches

P
age 83



Contextual Speeches

P
age 84



4 Panel Discussions:

 16 Speakers

 4 Moderators

 9 Public Sector Rep 

 8 Private Sector Rep

 1 HEI Rep

 2 Government Rep

Panel Discussions

P
age 85



Panel 

Discussions

P
age 86



Panel 

Discussions

P
age 87



Insights

 The European Union seeks to build a future 
Europe that is more sustainable, green, digital; 
that supports innovation and 
entrepreneurship; and reduces barriers in the 
single market.

 Trends have been consolidated and rapidly 
accelerated, including: declining retail, 
increasing ecommerce, increasing 
experience purchasing.

 Remote working has created significant 
opportunities and impacts regarding 
workplace, recreational and social locations. 

Observations

 Even with these uncertain times, with
today’s discussions and collaborations
we are building stronger connections to
tackle the many issues facing our city
and region together. These issues were
facing us anyway but they been
accelerated by the COVID crisis.

 SMEs have had to radically diversify,
pivot and re-evaluate in response to the
crisis.

 There will be long term impacts and
effects which are currently unknown.

Reset Summit Outcomes Report 2020

Key Insights & Observations 

P
age 88



Reset Summit Outcomes Report 2020

Context Data & Stats

Economic Development & 
Enterprise Strategic Policy 

Committee

Circular Economy & 
Sustainability

Your Dublin Your Voice

Q2 & Q3 2020 

Dublin Economic Monitor

Q2 & Q3 2020

Reset Summit 
Outcomes 

Report

P
age 89



Finalise Report

Publish

Disseminate to 
SPC members

Disseminate to 
DETE

Disseminate to 
25 Speakers & 

Moderators

Disseminate to 
all External 

Stakeholders

Next Steps:

P
age 90



Q & A?

Reset Summit 

Outcomes Report 2020

P
age 91





  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 1 

 

 

Strategic Policy Committee 

Working Group: 

Tourism, City Markets including Night Time Economy 

Completion Report for SPC   

20th April 2021 

 

 

1 Establishment of the Working Group  

At the November 2019 Economic Development & Enterprise SPC meeting, it was agreed that two working groups would be 

examined under Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economy; and International Relations & European Affairs. Membership of 

both working groups was decided at the February 2020 meeting of the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC. The 

proposed Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economy working group were scheduled to hold their initial scoping meeting to 

discuss proposed work programme on 18th March, but was postponed due to COVID19 restrictions and was rescheduled to 9th 

June. This meeting reviewed the draft Terms of Reference document, and the proposed work programme in response to the 

significant impact of COVID19 on Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economy. The proposed working group was reviewed, 

approved and established by the Corporate Policy Group on 26th June 2020. 

 

2   Duration & Reporting  

The initial timeframe of the working group was agreed at 6 months, with the timeframe commencing on 26th June following the 

CPG approval.  It was also agreed that regular reports would be provided to the SPC to ensure focus and to update on progress 

on the proposed work programme.  An extension by the Corporate Policy Group on 19th February to run to end of March 2021. 

This extension is based on the change in chair and membership within the group and the completion of the groups agreed work 

programme. The Working Group met on 27th January, 25th February and 18th March, receiving presentations on the Night Time 

Economy, Smart Tourism and reviews on the work programme progression. 

 

3 Terms of Reference 

The terms of reference has been agreed with the working group members which outlines the objectives, members, work 

programme, timeframe and secretariat of the working group. The initial timeframe of the working group was agreed at 6 months, 

which would then be agreed on an as needs basis. The 6 month timeframe would commence following the CPG approval. It was 

agreed regular reporting to SPC would be provided to ensure focus and progression on the proposed work programme. It was 

agreed Cllr Rachel Batten would chair the working group, and Anthony Flynn would be the lead administer for the working group. 

A number of additional memberships were requested to join the group which was heard and approved at the CPG on 25th Sept. 

A change in membership occurred in November with a new chair appointed by the Chair of the SPC. Current members are 

outlined under Section 5. 

 

4 Work Programme  

The working group proposed a work programme at the initial scoping meeting in June to examine the 3 areas of this working 

group, Tourism, City Markets and Night Time Economy on a balanced approach. The concept is to examine the fundamental 

impact of COVID 19 on the 3 sectors and identify the significantly changed pull factors to encourage citizens and visitors back 

Page 93



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 2 

 

into the city centre, which will encourage economic spend across the 3 sectors. To initially look at the void created by the vacant 

international tourists, students and office workers and refocus to the domestic market to encourage people back into the city 

centre. It is noted the work programme of the group is determined by the 5 Reopening Phases of Ireland (reduced to 4 phases), 

which is determined by central government and the constant changing environment and regulations in response to COVID19 

and its impact on health & safety requirements. The group recognised short term and medium term actions are required. However 

there are ongoing difficulties of examining short-term measures in light of changing public health restrictions. 

As part of the agreed extension of the Working Group to end March 2021; members were requested to submit their proposals in 

writing for the Q1 Work Programme in late December. The submitted proposals were reviewed and discussed by members at 

the January meeting. The extension was approved by CPG in February. 
 

5 Membership of the Working Group 

The membership of the Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economy SPC Working Group as at 18th March 2021 is outlined 

below: 

Working Group – Membership 

 Cllr Danny Byrne  (Economic Development & Enterprise SPC member)(Chair) 

 Aidan Sweeney, (IBEC), (Business Sectoral Rep - Economic Development & Enterprise SPC member) 

 Cllr Donna Cooney, (Economic Development & Enterprise SPC member) 

 Natalie McGuinness, (Dublin Chamber), (Business Sectoral Rep - EDE SPC member) 

 Cllr Claire Byrne  (Arts & Culture SPC member) 

 Sunil Sharpe (Arts & Culture SPC member) 

 Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive, Dublin City Council 

 

A change in membership and chair took place in October 2020, with the working group chair resigning due to time constraints 

and commitments. New chair appointed, Cllr Danny Byrne and the group met on 9th November to progress the work programme, 

with the 3 new members and a new chair for the working group. 

 

Supported by Officials: 

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager CRES, Dublin City Council; 

Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development, Dublin City Council; 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development, Dublin City Council;  

Ciara O hAodha, Senior Economic Development Officer, Dublin City Council; 
 

6 Meetings held to date:  

Date: Meeting Type: 

9th June 2020 Initial Scoping Meeting 

8th July Progress Meeting  

17th August Progress Meeting  

9th November Progress Meeting 

17th December Progress Meeting  

27th January Progress Meeting  

25th February Progress Meeting  

18th March Final Meeting 

Page 94



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 3 

 

 

7 Progress on Work Programme 

June – Sept 2020: 

The Tourism & City Markets, including Night Time Economy Working group met on 9th June and 8th July to discuss recovery 

options for the sectors. At the initial scoping meeting on 9th June the group agreed Terms of Reference, timeframes and potential 

work programme and received a presentation on the Your Dublin Your Voice Night Time Economy survey which took place pre-

COVID in Q1. The members attended the Night Time Economy Forum meeting on 26th June, organised by EDO and the Arts 

Office of Dublin City Council, where 24 stakeholders participated with representatives from the Department of Media, Tourism, 

Arts, Culture, Sport and the Gaeltacht (previously Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht), the Department of Justice, 

and representing the Culture Sector, Tourism, Transportation, and Business.  The Night-time Economy Adviser from the Greater 

Manchester Area participated in the forum and provided an international perspective. From this an outcomes report was made 

public and circulated to the participants and wider stakeholders including the Department of Media, Tourism, Arts, Culture, Sport 

and the Gaeltacht (previously Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht).  At the initial working group meeting on 8th 

July, the group received a presentation on Dublin Place Branding reopening campaigns - #InThisTogether, #ShopLocal and 

#MakeaDayofIt campaigns and the Events section Words of Our Time campaign on animating the city and encouraging people 

back into the city centre. Further discussion on the proposed work programme took place. Additional nominations for this working 

group had been received from the Arts, Culture, Leisure and Recreation SPC, which had been directed to the SPC chair for 

review and approval. The proposed new members to the working group will be Cllr Danny Byrne, Economic Development & 

Enterprise SPC; along with members of the Arts, Culture, Leisure and Recreation SPC, Cllr Claire Byrne and Sunil Sharpe, Give 

us the Night. The chair of the Economic Development & Enterprise SPC has reviewed and is in agreement with this and this will 

now progress to the next meeting of the Economic Development & Enterprise SPC on 15th September for discussion.  If our 

members agree at that stage, procedurally we can amend our Terms of Reference with the new membership, which would then 

go to the CPG for agreement when they next meet on 25th September. At the progress meeting on 17th August, the working 

group received updates on developments on the Tourism, City Markets and Night Time Economy with a presentation on the 

Make a Day of it campaign which is now live and is being led by the Dublin Place Brand. It was noted a national Task Force on 

the Night Time Economy has now been established by the Minister with the Lord Mayor of Dublin as a member, along with the 

Lord Mayor of Cork city and other high level stakeholders. The first meeting of this task force will take place in September. The 

working group agreed to issue a letter to the national task force requesting the evening economy be incorporated into the work 

programme of the national task force. 
 

Sept – Dec 2020: 

The SPC chair reviewed and approved the three new members to join the Tourism, City Markets & Night Time Economy Working 

Group on 15th Sept. This development was also approved by the Corporate Policy Committee on 25th September. The working 

group chair resigned in October, due to time constraints and commitments. New chair appointed, Cllr Danny Byrne and the group 

met on 9th November to progress the work programme, with the 3 new members and a new chair for the working group. The 

group received presentations from Dublin Town on the COVID impact on businesses in the city and also an update on the 

National Task Force on Night Time Economy and developments in City Markets. The Tourism, City Markets & Night Time 

Economy Working Group met on 17th December with presentations on Economic Statistics relating to the COVID 19 Impact on 

the Tourism, Hospitality and Night Time Economy sectors. Fáilte Ireland provided an overview of the depth & breadth of work 

completed by Fáilte Ireland for the Dublin Region tourism sector in response to COVID19 impacts. The working group requested 

future meetings would extend to 1.5 hours with further presentations and discussions. The members were requested to submit 

work programme proposals in writing in preparation of their extension to end March 2021. 

Page 95



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 4 

 

 

Jan – March 2021: 

The SPC Working Group on Tourism and City Markets including Night Time Economy received endorsement from the chair of 

the Economic Development & Enterprise SPC to extend the working group to end March 2021. This extension is based on the 

change in chair and membership within the group and the completion of the groups agreed work programme. This submission 

will progress to the Corporate Policy Group for their next meeting on 19th February for approval. The working group met on 27th 

January and received a presentation on Night Time Economy from Joanne Cox-Brown. Discussions took place on various options 

and opportunities for developing and supporting the Night Time Economy, including night time markets, amongst other 

suggestions and the need that outdoor activity could help revitalise the city sooner than indoor activity until we are post pandemic. 

The Working Group met on 25th February receiving presentations on the Night Time Economy, Smart Tourism and reviews on 

the work programme progression. At the final meeting of the working group on 18th March, the members received a review of 

the Work Programme completed during the duration of the working group and discussions on the final progress report to the 

SPC. 

 

Presentations Received from External Experts: 

 Fáilte Ireland 

 Dublin Economic Monitor 

 Dublin Place Branding 

 Dublin Town 

 National Task Force on Night Time Economy 

 Night Time Economy Solutions Ltd  

 Smart Tourism 

 

Outputs -  

 Completed 8 meetings during the duration of the working group 

 Involvement in the Night Time Economy Forum on 26th June. 

 Letter issued to Fáilte Ireland in June to invite participation and collaboration on the working group.  

 The working group issued a letter to the National Task Force on Night Time Economy, in advance of their initial meeting, 

requesting the evening economy be incorporated into the work programme of the national task force. 

 Two members of the working group participated on the National Task Force for Night Time Economy Working groups. 

 Proposals of Night Time Economy Strategy developed by working group members to be considered during the intensive 

strategy development (as outlined under Appendix 1 attached. 

 

It is noted the outputs of the group is determined by the Reopening Phases of Ireland and Level 5 restrictions, which are 

determined by central government and the constant changing environment and regulations required in response to COVID19 

and its impact on health & safety requirements. The group recognised short term and medium term actions and targeted outputs 

are required. However there are ongoing difficulties of examining short-term measures in light of changing public health 

restrictions. 

 

Page 96



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 5 

 

Appendix 1: Proposals of Night Time Economy Strategy & Implementation: 

 

No. Proposal Clarification 

 

1 Submission to the City Development Plan for a vibrant night time economy, 

“that it’s an objective of the Dublin City development plan to provide for a 

vibrant night time economy, that Dublin City should be a place that is 

welcoming for all citizens and visitors in the evenings, with places to dance, to 

socialise, to enjoy arts and culture and evening markets and any planning 

application should be accessed as to its effect on this objective 

Planning Dept have confirmed 

internal working groups of DCC are 

not in a position to submit submision 

on the DCC CDP. However 

Individuals or external groups can 

submit submissions 

2 That we conduct an audit of venues in Dublin City that post Covid restrictions 

will be open for evening entertainment, evaluating potential risks and areas that 

are lacking in venues, cultural and market places and explore incentives and 

means to revitalise the nighttime economy 

Dublin City Cultural Company have 

completed and launched the 

Cultural Audit & Map project which 

includes 2747 Cultural Locations.  

3 That we prepare a report for the ministers night time working group with our 

recommendations 

Wrkg Grp wrote to Minister Martin in 

September 2020 outlining a broader 

view of the NT Economy for the 

National Task Force. 2 members of 

the Working Group sit on the 

Working Groups of the National 

Task Force  

4 Commission murals with the view to illuminate buildings at night and entice 

people into the city in general. Let the short-term message be focussed on 

‘hope’. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

5 Devise a new plan for street food and pop up food & beverage operators in the 

city at night. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

6 Encourage the steady growth of coffee shops in the city to extend into the night. Outside of Remit of Working Group 

7 Widen footpaths. Outside of Remit of Working Group 

8 Adjust lighting in later hours, and increase lighting in general (to improve safety 

in quieter areas, where individuals are more vulnerable to crime). 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

9 Organise more events in parks, squares, heritage sites, as well as on the 

streets.  

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

10 In the short-term, program and space out events in the city to help to avoid 

overconcentration on Dame Lane, South William Street etc. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

11 Also, to learn from last summer, and coordinate an organised reopening plan 

with Gardai, pubs, restaurants and any other relevant stakeholders in the city. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

12 Allow more access to council-owned/managed buildings and cultural venues in 

the evening and at night. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

13 Develop a new policy for music in the city, and work with groups like Give Us 

The Night to achieve this. Represent the full spectrum of music - traditional, 

established and emerging music forms. Also, highlight specialist music cultures 

like jazz, blues, reggae, punk etc. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

Page 97



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 6 

 

No. Proposal Clarification 

 

14 Work closely with stakeholder groups - venues, clubs, pubs, restaurants, as 

well as creative collectives, promoters etc. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

15 Continue NTE working group, but with more actions occurring from meeting to 

meeting. 

Working Group has been in 

existence for 9 months 

16 Identify city ‘dead zones’ such as large office buildings for temporary cultural 

use. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

17 Revise and improve policies on soundproofing/noise management. Outside of Remit of Working Group 

18 Create a specific focus on night-time events within the DCC Events section. Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

19 Work more on the concept of self-sustainable creative cooperatives for local 

creative communities and small businesses. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

20 Swift change of use of buildings to be a feature of council operations, and faster 

granting of fire certs. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

21 Street cleaners (increase work plan if needed). Outside of Remit of Working Group 

22 Enable cultural activity that expands on the traditional pub/club/cinema/theatre 

offering. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

23 Affordable/free access to NTE, cultural events etc. Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

 

24 Permit more use of outdoor spaces attached to entertainment and hospitality 

establishments, preferably without charge. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

25 Explore the use of outdoor heating and temporary roofing for these businesses, 

and to help to subsidise in certain cases. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

26 Employ a team connected to NTE to regularly walk around and observe the 

city.  

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

27 Encourage more businesses to open later into the night, from newsagents to 

department stores. 

Outside of Remit of Working Grp 

28 Bring alive Dublin’s historic dance culture by using more spaces in Parnell 

Square, even for one-off events. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

29 Pedestrianise selected areas entirely at night, e.g. South William Street, 

Parliament Street, College Green, Capel Street. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

30 Establish dedicated transport hubs.  Outside of Remit of Working Group 

31 Investigate the potential for NTE within each new major residential 

development. 

Outside of Remit of Working Group 

32 More public toilets, that open further into the night (consider a €1 charge if 

necessary). 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

Page 98



  

SPC WORKING GROUP – TOURISM & CITY MARKETS INCLUDING NIGHT TIME ECONOMY COMPPLETION REPORT – APRIL 2021 7 

 

No. Proposal Clarification 

33 Identify new outdoor social spaces, to promote public street art, music and 

skating. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

34 Incentivize new investment into the night-time industry. Outside of Remit of Working Group 

35 Ask local residents what events they would like to see or organise. Give some 

of them special access to attend cultural events or venues of their choice within 

the city. 

Can be examined as part of NTE 

Strategy Process 

 

Page 99





Economic Development & Enterprise SPC 

International Relations & EU Affairs Working Group – Request for Extension: 

 

1. Submitted by: Cllr Mary Freehill, Chair of SPC Working Group 

Received:   28 January 2021 16:17 

 

Extension Request: 

I think it is important that our working group continues as our work is not complete. 

The areas that we need to address are 

 Our international linkages 

 ERDF and Recovery Fund which are out for review right now 

 

We could also deal with any other International linkages and issues relevant to the Council. 

 

2. Submitted by: Aidan Sweeney, SPC Working Group Member 

Received:   16 February 2021 20:43 & 28 January 17:28 

 

Extension Request: 

The EU Recovery and Resilience Fund (2021-23) and the PEACE PLUS Cross-Border EU Fund (2021-

27) had both been discussed by the working group.  

 

 The EU Recovery and Resilience Fund: 

Apparently, a public consultation on the Irish priority areas for the Recovery and Resilience Fund 

is to be launched as early as next week. The fund is approximately 50/50 in terms of the split 

between grants and loans. Ireland could be expected to receive €853 for projects between 2021 

& 2022. There are some initiatives such as the circular economy (e.g. Modos) that could potentially 

be earmarked for additional funding.  

Also, there’s a consultation on the Recovery and Resilience Facility (closing Monday 22 February). 

It would be an opportunity to re-iterate some of the projects highlighted in the submission DCC 

made on the ERDF/ESF consultation last year. Also, I think a number of projects under the remit 

of the Council could be attractive from the European Commission’s perspective. 30% of the 

Recovery and Resilience funds go on green and climate action initiatives. There’s also a heading 

on projects benefiting competitiveness and SMEs so there’s potential to scale MODOS significantly 

under the fund. Separately, 20% of the fund is earmarked for digital projects. This could support 

Smart Cities and other digital local government initiatives led by the Council.  

 PEACE PLUS Cross-Border EU Fund: 

Potential funding under PEACE PLUS for Dublin-Belfast projects. There is to be a consultation on 

this, so it might be worth having a discussion with the SEUPB.  

There is to be a separate consultation on the PEACE PLUS programme. Whilst this is primarily 

targeted at Northern Ireland and counties Cavan, Donegal, Leitrim, Louth, Monaghan and Sligo; 

there is scope for specific projects beyond these areas. Projects related to the Dublin-Belfast 

Economic Corridor or supporting greater collaboration between Dublin & Belfast could potentially 

secure funding under this programme. I have attached a press release from the Department of 

Public Expenditure & Reform on this programme issued earlier this week. A discussion with the 

Special EU Programmes Body might be worthwhile.  

Page 101





1 
 

 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 20th April 2021  
 

Agenda Item 8: Management Reports 
 

Contents 
1. International Relations: .................................................................................................................. 2 

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants ................................................... 3 

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie ...................................................................................................... 16 

4. Economic Development Office ..................................................................................................... 18 

5. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts ..................................................................................................... 23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



2 
 

1. International Relations: 

International Relations continues to develop and enhance international relationships through 

mutually beneficial initiatives, cultural, educational and economic development exchanges.  

International Relations acts as first point of contact for city, business and government visiting 

delegations from other cities to provide support to the Lord Mayor’s office on international relations 

matters.   Work is continuing virtually due to the pandemic. 

 

Embassy of Canada   - Trade Commission Team 

An introductory virtual meeting took place between representatives from the Embassy of Canada 

Trade Commissioner’s  team and officials from Economic Development & International Relations to 

discuss avenues for collaboration in 2021, and also opportunities for local SMEs, business and 

investment links with Canada, including those arising from the Canada-EU Comprehensive Economic 

and Trade Agreement (CETA).  

 

Eurocities Network 

The business of Eurocities and the work of its 6 Thematic Forums continue to be delivered online 

due to the pandemic. 

 

Page 104



3 
 

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants 

 
LEO COVID-19 Response https://www.localenterprise.ie/response/  

A LEO COVID-19 hub of information is updated on an ongoing basis detailing supports available 

during the pandemic. Supports include: 

- LEO Supports: Mentoring, Training, Funding, Lean, Trading Online Voucher  
- Expert views & client case studies of adapting their business model successfully during 

the pandemic 
- Lunch & Learn series: Webinars on a variety of relevant topics 
- Frequently asked questions 
- Enterprise Ireland Supports https://globalambition.ie/covid-19/  
- Supports for Employers & the Self Employed 
- General Business Supports: listing of all government supports for business 

https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/Supports-for-SMEs/COVID-19-
supports/Government-supports-to-COVID-19-impacted-businesses.html  

- Online Business Resources: Link to relevant associations & partners information  
e.g. ISME, IBEC, Retail Excellence Ireland 

- Events: A listing of national forthcoming events 
 

BREXIT Supports https://www.localenterprise.ie/Discover-Business-Supports/Brexit/ 

A handy guide to Brexit supports is available through Dublin City Local Enterprise Office to assist 

businesses manage their post Brexit response: 

- Scorecards and checklists to help with planning  

- One-to-one mentoring  

- Customs Training  

- Financial supports  

- Access to worldwide support networks  

- Practical Steps to getting your Business Brexit Ready  
 

A comprehensive review of Brexit supports from LEO Dublin City and other state agencies can be 

found here https://www.prepareforbrexit.com/ 
 

Prepare your business for customs workshops are ongoing across the LEO network. Two 

information webinars have taken place in 2021 so far: 

- 22/01/2021: 25 participants 
- 19/02/2021: 30 participants 

 

Brexit specific mentoring: 19 companies have sought assistance from 01/01/2021 – 31/03/2021 vs 3 

companies for the same period in 2020. 

 

Events 

Showcase – 25th – 29th January 2021 https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-

Events/Events%20/Showcase-Creative-Expo-2021.html  

Showcase is Ireland’s annual Creative Expo organised by Showcase Ireland Events Ltd on behalf of 

the Design & Craft Council of Ireland. In 2021 the event ran virtually. The 31 Local Enterprise Offices 

(LEOs) proudly 'showcase' the high calibre of talent from within the LEO client portfolio nationally.  

Visit Showcase 2021 online to discover the work of 450 of Ireland’s most talented makers and 

designers across home ware, giftware, fashion, jewellery and accessories. Enjoy thought provoking 

workshops and presentations from Industry experts. 

Page 105

https://www.localenterprise.ie/response/
https://globalambition.ie/covid-19/
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/Supports-for-SMEs/COVID-19-supports/Government-supports-to-COVID-19-impacted-businesses.html
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/Supports-for-SMEs/COVID-19-supports/Government-supports-to-COVID-19-impacted-businesses.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Discover-Business-Supports/Brexit/
https://www.prepareforbrexit.com/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Showcase-Creative-Expo-2021.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Showcase-Creative-Expo-2021.html


4 
 

LEO Dublin City participant clients: 

Sandia Dublin  https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/sandia-dublin/ 

Designed by Betzy Nina, she brings extremely light weight jewellery to the market, using unexpected 

materials, inspired by the Caribbean sea. 

 

Stork & Co https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/the-stork-box/  

An Irish children's brand developed by sisters Sophie Cafolla & Dr Vicky O'Dwyer bringing unique 

children ranges of clothing, bedding and feeding to the market and new toy and accessories for 

2021. 

Showcase is promoted internationally and the show attracts buyers from all over the work including 

UK, USA, Mainland Europe and the Far East. It is a great opportunity for Irish designers and 

manufacturers to connect with international buyers.  

Local Enterprise Week 2021, 1st – 6th March 2021 

All events were virtual  

See the LEO Dublin City schedule https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Enterprise-

Development/Local-Enterprise-Week/  

 Spotlight events: 10 national events took place to highlight the diversity of supports & services 

available  

 LEO Dublin City Spotlight Event: Benefits of Green for Your Business – launch of Green for Micro 

product. The launch event took place successfully 1st March launched formally by An Tánaiste Mr 

Leo Varadkar. The session detailed the benefits with practical ‘how to’ advice with case studies 

from clients on their green adoption journey. There were 380 participants.  

 Promotion: Took place in: 

- outdoor formats e.g. metropanels, metropoles, bus shelters, belly bins in many high footfall 

areas across Dublin City to increase the opportunity to see the campaign.   

- A Dublin regional radio advertising campaign took place which increased opportunity to hear 

the campaign. Working as a region increased the campaign effectiveness and cost efficiency.   

- Online & print advertising also took place at local and National level.  
 
Post event analysis 

70% of respondents to our survey indicated being very satisfied with a further 30% being satisfied 

with the week. 90% found the online format easy to attend/participate in. 81.8% favoured a mixture 

of online and offline events post pandemic. Participation year on year increased by 65%.  

 

Measure 2 Statistics: Business Advice, Training & Mentoring:  
 
Training https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/ 

 
LEO Dublin City continues to provide a wide array of relevant training programmes, workshops 
and networking meet-ups online. We are predicting market requirements in line with the level of 
lockdown and providing suitable courses to reflect business needs.  
Upskilling in the area of digital is ongoing supported by complimentary grant funding through the 
Trading Online Voucher scheme. 

 

Page 106

https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/sandia-dublin/
https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/sandia-dublin/
https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/the-stork-box/
https://www.showcaseireland.com/exhibitors/the-stork-box/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Enterprise-Development/Local-Enterprise-Week/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Enterprise-Development/Local-Enterprise-Week/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/


5 
 

Courses Completed Jan – 31st March 2021 

January 

Date Course Title Attended  

06/01/2021 Business Advice Clinic 22 

12/01/2021 Business Advice Clinic 16 

12/01/2021 Trading Online Voucher 150 

19/01/2021 Start Your Own Business Mid Week January 30 

21/01/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

22/01/2021 Brexit Customs Planning & Webinar 30 

25/01/2021 Foodstarter 17 

26/01/2021 Trading Online Voucher 150 

26/01/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

27/01/2021 Create a free wordpress website 30 

30/01/2021 Start Your Own Business Feb (Sat & Weds) 30 

  TOTAL 523 

 

February 

Date Course Title Bookings 

02/02/2021 Womenswear Trend Forecast 20 

03/02/2021 Marketing on a Shoestring 18 

04/02/2021 Online Marketing & Social Media Course 30 

04/02/2021 Business Advice Clinic 26 

05/02/2021 Management Development Programme 8 

09/02/2021 Trading Online Voucher 150 

10/02/2021 How to Maximise Your New Website 30 

11/02/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

16/02/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

17/02/2021 Instagram for business 30 

17/02/2021 Free Library Talks - Financial Supports & Grants for Entrepreneurs 50 

Page 107



6 
 

19/02/2021 Brexit Customs & Planning webinar 25 

19/02/2021 Question time special BAC 26 

19/02/2021 Business Advice Clinic 15 

23/02/2021 Start Your Own Business Mid Week Feb 29 

24/02/2021 Twitter for Business 18 

24/02/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

25/02/2021 Financial Management for Small Business 14 

25/02/2021 
FREE Library Talks - Becoming a successful entrepreneur & idea 
generation 53 

27/02/2021 Start Your Own Business Sat & Weds 30 

  TOTAL 542 

 

March 

Date Course Title Attended  

01/03/2021 Online Selling Masterclass for craft & design entrepreneurs 30 

01/03/2021 Benefits of Green for Business - launch of Green for Micro 380 

01/03/2021 Starting a food business - your roadmap to success 29 

01/03/2021 Funding for Startups 2021 46 

02/03/2021 Trading Online Voucher Information Seminar 142 

02/03/2021 The Value of Intellectual Property 80 

02/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Breakthrough Innovation Panel Discussion 51 

03/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Facbook for Business 30 

03/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Winning private & public tenders 30 

03/03/2021 Building Social Enterprise Engagement 166 

04/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Smartphone video & photography for the web 30 

04/03/2021 FREE Library Talks - Market Research Identifying clients competitors 54 

04/03/2021 Business Advice Clinic 26 

04/03/2021 Modos Circular Economy - Sustainable Packaging 137 

05/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Ask the expert mentoring  1 

Page 108



7 
 

05/03/2021 Local Enterprise Week - Intro to lean techniques  100 

06/03/2021 Start Up Boot Camp 49 

09/03/2021 VAT & Tax for beginners 30 

10/03/2021 Business Advice Clinic 24 

11/03/2021 FREE Library Talks - Creating the best plan for your business  55 

18/03/2021 FREE Library Talks - Creating a digital marketing strategy 55 

19/03/2021 Business Advice Clinic 18 

24/03/2021 Search Engine Optimistation 30 

25/03/2021 FREE Library Talks - VAT, Tax and revenue 55 

25/03/2021 Business Advice Clinic 23 

30/03/2021 Start Your Own Business Course April 30 

  TOTAL 1701 

 

Annual target 2021: 1,900 participants 

Quarterly total: 2766 participants, up from 1329 for the same period in 2020. 

 

 

 

Year on year comparative: 

 

Page 109



8 
 

 
 
 
Start your Own Business Programme  
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Start-Your-Own-Business/  
Is the entry level training programme the Local Enterprise Office (LEO) Dublin City offers and 
graduates of the programme regularly progress onto obtaining funding support from the LEO Dublin 
City and other state agencies. The programme helps participants to obtain and/or develop the 
necessary skills and knowledge to assess the marketing and financial viability of their business 
idea/project. The programme is delivered over 5 weeks as two engaging and interactive workshops 
per week.  Since March 2020 the programme has run exclusively online.  
 

Annual target 2021: 13 courses with 220 participants 

5 courses delivered, 1 bootcamp & 198 participants 1st Jan – 31st March 2021. 

 

Page 110

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Start-Your-Own-Business/


9 
 

 
 
Food Supports 
Food Starter 
Four half days delivered online. The programme is designed to help those with a food idea/early 
stage of starting a food business i.e. 0 -24 months, post participation in the Digital School of 
Food. The programme overviews the Irish Food sector to the specifics of starting a food 
production business. The most recent course commenced 15th March and finished on 31st 
March. 
 
 
Mentoring  
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Mentoring-Business-
Advice/ 
Under the Local Enterprise Office Mentor Programme, clients work with an experienced mentor to 
identify solutions to areas of exposure within their business. With advice and guidance from their 
mentor, clients develop strategies that are more robust, which address issues and maximise 
potential opportunities. Nominal fees have been introduced and the service continues to be 
delivered remotely.  
 

Annual Target 2021: 1,000 hours. 619 hours completed 1st Jan – 31st March 2021  

 

Page 111

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Mentoring-Business-Advice/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Mentoring-Business-Advice/


10 
 

 

 

 

 

Business Advice Clinics  

Annual target 2020: 500 participants 

316 participants from 1st Jan – 31st March 2021 / 63% of annual target achieved. 

 

Page 112



11 
 

 

 

Green for Micro www.localenterprise.ie/Green 

The objective of the Green for Micro programme - a new initiative from the Local Enterprise 

Offices - is to help prepare small businesses for the low carbon, more resource efficient 

economy of the future. Explanatory video https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-

Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html  

Business Benefits: 

 Increased cost savings 

 Improved resource efficiency (for example: using less energy, water and materials) 

 Reduced environmental footprint and greenhouse gas emissions 

 Opportunities for higher and additional value on products and services 

 Increased access to customers, improved corporate image 

 Increased resilience to climate change impacts 
 

Application: Open. The business is encouraged to watch the lunch & learn series that took 

place on 12th March http://%20www.facebook.com/LocalEnterpriseOffices  

And then submit their application for 2 days mentoring/green consultation, with a value of 

€1,800. This delivers an audit of their green credentials with next steps. This product is 

suitable for businesses in construction and the built environment, retail, manufacturing, 

textiles and fashion, food, electronics, plastics, and packaging. 

 

 

MFI Pre Loan Applications 

Page 113

http://www.localenterprise.ie/Green
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html


12 
 

37 Micro Finance Pre Loan Applications 1st Jan – 31st March 2021, up from 25 for the same 

period in 2020. 

 

 

 

Communications 

A monthly newsletter is disseminated to all subscribers, with reminder mailings also taking 

place. In addition bespoke newsletters took place during January, February & March: 

 

 ENFUSE Inspiring & Fusing – Enterprises & Students 19th January  

 Business Spirit Awards 20th January 

 Mentor Survey 11th February 

 Local Enterprise Week 17th February 

 Green for Micro Programme 1st March 

 Supports For Your Food Business 5th March 

 Supports For Your Business 6th March 

 Small Business Assistance Scheme 23rd March 
        

 

 

Page 114



13 
 

    

     

Measure 1 (Grants) Approvals Metrics: January - March 2021     

 #No of M1 Grant Applications Jobs  Value of M1 Grants  

Type of Grant Annual 
Target 

Total # No 
Approved 

2021 

Variance Total Jobs 
Created 
Target - 

Grant 
Approvals 

Total Jobs 
Created - 

From Grant 
Approvals 

2021 

Annual 
Target  

Total Value 
M1  Grant 
Approved 

2021 

Variance 

Feasibility Grant 23 10  19  23 10 €172,500 €72,450 €100,050 

Priming 21 3  0  31 10 €315,000 €95,000 €220,000 

Business 
Expansion Grant 

16 7 9  32 17 €400,000 €195,000 €205,000 

TOTAL  60 20  40  86  37  €887,500 €362,450 €525,050 

 

P
age 115



14 
 

  

GMIS No. Company Name Grant Type first name Executive Official Amount Approved Jobs  

9031085 Klever Vault Feasibility Colin Napper Ross Curley €6,000 1 

9028130 Native Cabins Feasibility Deirdre Culley Dermot Shortt €7,000 1 

9028557 
GRC Playbook LTD Feasibility Michali Hyams Dermot Shortt €8,500 1 

9031479 ifig Space Limited Feasibility Eoghan Maloney Peter Sheridan €15,000 1 

9014757-05 Child Paths Limited Business Expansion Ciaran Flynn Ross Curley €25,000 2 

9019904-03 Get Broadcasting Limited Business Expansion Brian Larkin Peter Sheridan €30,000 2 

9031391 Living Language Contact Ltd. Business Expansion Jean-Marc Bourguignon Dermot Shortt €17,500 2 

9031481 Kinahans Irish Whiskey Limited Business Expansion Tom Murray Peter Sheridan €40,000 4 

9029791 Tara Engineering Consultants Ltd. Priming James O’Brien Peter Sheridan €20,000 2 

9027107 Hiiker Priming Paul Finlay Peter Sheridan €27,500 3 

9031482 Konversational Consulting Limited Priming Richard Guy Ross Curley €47,500 5 

9028585 The Smart Money Series Feasibility Ed O’Riordan Dermot Shortt €3,800 1 

9030518 Driving Assessments inTuition Dublin Feasibility Fionnbarr McDaid Dermot Shortt €1,600 1 

9030280 IAA Technology Services Limited Feasibility Jim McGovern Peter Sheridan €15,000 1 

9030816 Discover Vend Ltd Feasibility Paul Sandilands Peter Sheridan €4,000 1 

9031423 Pup Pup Foods Ltd Feasibility Hayden Smith Dermot Shortt €8,400 1 

9031087 PS Byrne Holdings Ltd. Feasibility Siobhan Byrne Peter Sheridan €3,150 1 

9030368 Healthreach Limited Business Expansion Kevin Hurley Dermot Shortt €17,500 2 

9019015-04 Cloud Picker Coffee Ltd Business Expansion Peter Sztal Ross Curley €40,000 3 

9019228 NAB Academy Ltd Business Expansion Dermot Russell Peter Sheridan €25,000 2 

    Total: €362,450 37  

P
age 116



15 
 

 

  

 TAME Metrics: March 2021 (Unchanged due to Covid-19) 

Technical Assistance for 
Micro Exporters :  M1 

Metrics 2020 
Target  2020   2020 

Grant Approvals  40  6 

TAME  6  

TAME Food Academy  
 

  

Budget Approvals 2019 95,000  11,205.00 

Value of Grants Paid Out To 
date   

 19,395.64 

 

 

 

Trading Online Metrics : For Noting  
Trading Online Vouchers:  

 
Target 2021 

 
Jan 1 – 15 Mar 2021 

 

No. of Trading Online Vouchers Approved 200 356 

Value of Trading Online Vouchers Approved   €852,816.00 

No. of Trading Online Vouchers Paid   132 

Value of Trading Online Vouchers Paid   €303,687.24                                  

Page 117



16 
 

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie 

Sustainable Masks in association with NCAD 

In November 2020 the Dublin Place Brand launched a project with National College Art & Design to 

create a range of branded facemasks. The initiative was directed at keeping citizens safe and 

celebrating what it means to be a Dubliner. The design brief was to appeal to a large demographic 

and reflect Dublin's perception as a dynamic, cosmopolitan, diverse, creative, successful and 

ambitious city. From over 30 outstanding designs, we selected seven for production. A local Dublin 

supplier has manufactured the masks in 100% sustainable cotton. Along with high-quality designs, 

the project also provided a significant learning experience for the students. The masks are being 

distributed to relevant stakeholders and will be sold online from early April, with proceeds going to 

Iveagh Trust. 

 

New stories on Dublin.ie 

Dublin as Learning City (https://dublin.ie/6b8x) 

Dublin has joined the UNESCO Global Network of Learning Cities to ensure education and learning 

are accessible to all regardless of age or cultural background. Meet three people who have availed of 

lifelong learning opportunities. 

Making Dublin City Climate Resilient (https://dublin.ie/pqhq) 

Sabrina Decker, DCC Climate Action Coordinator, highlights the Council's actions to respond to the 

climate crisis to ensure future generations get to enjoy all that Dublin has to offer.  

We are focused on content that addresses core pillars of the new DCC Development Plan and the EU 

priorities of building an environmentally sustainable economy with smart technologies that provide 

opportunities for everyone. 

Your Dublin Your Voice Survey 

Using the YDYV survey panel, the team recently undertook a brand awareness survey. The results 

will inform future research, strategy and work plans. 

 

 

Page 118

https://dublin.ie/6b8x
https://dublin.ie/pqhq


17 
 

Docklands 

Alongside Failte Ireland and Smart Dublin, the team are working on several initiatives focused on the 

Dublin Docklands to help develop the area as a tourist destination. The work includes a new smart 

tourism programme for developing best practice guidelines for Fáilte Ireland to develop tourism trail 

apps. We are also participating in the Docklands Visitor Experience Development Plan (VEDP), 

highlighting the potential for visitors to the Docklands area through improved collaboration. The aim 

is to have the Docklands primed for domestic visitor engagement when it is safe to reopen and for 

the international market in the long term. 

Supporting Events 

DCU Hack4Change - Social Enterprise Hackathon 

12th – 19th March - One week, three key themes, 600+ students, 80+ industry guests. This event 

focused on social challenges that could benefit from innovative solutions and engaged communities. 

We supported the event online, on social and provided prizes for winning teams. 

The Business Show 

Organised by Business & Finance, the Business Show's title for 2021 is 'Rebooting Ireland'. The event 

will focus on themes to help organisations rethink their strategy and find new ideas to innovate. 

Speakers include Prof. Luke O'Neil, Berard Brogan, Mark Little, Francesca McDonagh and Danny 

McCoy. The Business Show is a sister event to the Dublin Tech Summit.  

We are supporting through content and promotion across our social media. 

https://dublin.ie/whats-on/listings/the-business-show-virtual-summit/ 

One Dublin One Book 

One Dublin One Book encourages everyone to read a book connected with the capital city during the 

month of April every year. The team's support includes coverage on Dublin.ie with an interview with 

author Ronan Hession and book give away competitions. 

THIS IS ART! 

An exciting new, young people's art competition brought to you by RTÉ and the Creative Ireland 

Programme on 12th June. The competition is open to young people aged 0–18.  Almost 9,000 young 

people around the country have entered. The Dublin Brand team have organised a display of a 

selection of entries across digipanels in the city centre from 27th May. https://www.thisisart.ie/ 

 

Diversity in Dublin  

Launched by Creative Ireland and Dublin City Council Arts Office with the Gallery of Photography 
Ireland, five photographers were chosen to respond creatively to the theme of diversity in Dublin 
city. The winning photographers are Mandy O'Neill, Ala Buisir, Jialin Long, Tessy Ehiguese and Tobi 
Isaac-Irein. This significant commission will help five artists connect and engage with diverse Dublin 
communities creating exciting new connections between the artist, local communities and the city. 
The commissions will be presented to audiences through outdoor advertising display including 
digipanels, bus shelters and large metropoles. The images will also be displayed on a gallery on 
Dublin.ie. 

 

 

Page 119

https://dublin.ie/whats-on/listings/the-business-show-virtual-summit/
https://www.thisisart.ie/


18 
 

4. Economic Development Office  

 

SPC Progress Report 
Economic Development Office  

20th April 2021 

 

Q1 EDO Events 

Event Economic Pillar Date 

1. Resilience and Recovery 2020-2021: 
Plan for Living with COVID-19 

Strategic Approach Dublin Placed at Level 5 restrictions 
30th Dec 2020 – 12th April 2021 

2. Economic & Enterprise SPC Place-Making & Clustering 12th January 2021 

3. MODOS – Pathway to Circular 
Economy Webinar Series 

Climate & Innovation  20th January – 10th February 2021 

4. City Development Plan - City Economy 
& Retail Teams Webinar 

Strategic Approach 25th & 26th January 2021 

5. EDE SPC Working Group on Tourism, 
City Markets & Night Time Economy 

Promotion & Investment 27th January; 25th February 2021   
18th March 2021 

6. National Resilience & Recovery Plan Strategic Approach 4th – 22nd February 2021 

7. Your Dublin Your Voice – City 
Development Plan Survey 

Promotion & Investment 
Human Development 

11th – 19th February 2021 

8. EU Programme Participation Strategy  
SPC Presentations 

Strategic Approach 23rd February; 25th & 31st March 
2021 

9. Dublin City Social Enterprise Committe Place-Making & Clustering 24th February 2021 

10. ESER - Building Social Enterprise Event  Promotion & Investment 3rd March 2021 

11. MODOS – Circular Economy Event Climate & Innovation 4th March 2021 

12. Dublin Economic Monitor Q1 Edition Climate & Innovation 9th March 

13. Dublin Economic Monitor Launch Promotion & Investment  10th March  

14. ESER 2021 - DCU Hackathon Place-Making & Clustering 12th – 19th March 

15. Local Government Graduate 
Recruitment Drive 

Human Development 15th- 17th, 30th - 31st March  2021 

16. EuroCities Economic Development 
Forum 2021 

Promotion & Investment 17th – 19th March  

17. Your Dublin Your Voice – Dublin Place 
Branding Survey 

Promotion & Investment 23rd March – 2nd April  

18. Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor 
Launch 

Place-Making & Clustering 24th March  

Climate & 

Innovation 

Page 120



19 
 

Departmental Update: 
 

 
1. Economic Development Action Plan 2021 – Strategic Approach 

The EDO Action Plan & Work Programme continues to adapt for 2021 in response to the COVID 

19 Global Pandemic, the Roadmap to Reopening Ireland and the renewed Level 5 restrictions. 

Dublin and the country moved to Level 5 from 30th December 2020 – 12th April 2021. 

 

Policy: 
 
 

2. Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor - Placemaking & Clustering 

The launch of the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor (DBEC) took place on 24th March. The 

DBEC is a collaboration between 8 Local Authorities, DCU and University of Ulster, working 

together to drive economic development and co-operation in the region. The event included 

the publication of “The Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor: Current Profile, Potential in Recovery 

and Opportunities for Cooperation” report, a research collaboration between Dublin City 

University and University of Ulster identifying the key economic opportunities available.  

 
 

3. Economic Development & Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee: SPC - Strategic Approach 

The January sitting of the Economic Development & Enterprise SPC meeting took place on 12th 

January remotely via MS Teams. Presentations were provided on the organisations EU 

Programme Participation Strategy by Wessel Badenhorst, Urban Mode Ltd; Smart Cities Smart 

DCU District by Kieran Mahon, Smart DCU and Pre-draft Consultation of the City Development 

Plan by Deirdre Scully, Planning Dept. A summary of the 2021 Work Programme was presented 

and progress reports were presented on the two SPC Working groups on progress to date, 

outlined below.  Management Reports highlighted developments in International Relations, 

Economic Development, Local Enterprise Office, Dublin.ie, and Smart Dublin and Smart Cities, 

which were circulated in advance of the meeting. The next SPC meeting is scheduled for 20th 

April 2021.  

 
 

4. Economic Development & Enterprise SPC  Working Group Tourism, City Markets & Night 

Time Economy - Strategic Approach 

The SPC Working Group on Tourism and City Markets including Night Time Economy received 

endorsement from the chair & members of the Economic Development & Enterprise SPC to 

extend the working group to end March 2021. This extension was based on the change in chair 

and membership within the group and the completion of the groups agreed work programme. 

This extension was approved by the Corporate Policy Group on 19th February to run to end of 

March 2021. The Working Group met on 27th January, 25th February and 18th March, 

receiving presentations on the Night Time Economy, Smart Tourism and reviews on the work 

programme progression. At the final meeting of the working group the members received a 

review of the Work Programme completed during the duration of the working group and 

discussions on the final progress report to the SPC. This concludes the work of the working 

group and a completion report will be presented to the SPC on 20th April. 

 
 

Page 121



20 
 

5. Economic Development & Enterprise SPC  Working Group International Relations & EU 

Affairs - Strategic Approach 

The EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 was presented to the SPC Working 

Group on 18th December. A detailed discussion took place, in which the members requested 

an extension of the working group into 2021. The procedure to apply for an extension was 

explained to the members for progression, the first step being a written submission with 

details and reasons for extended the working group, which the chair advised would be 

progressed. Following the SPC meeting on 12th January, members of the working group 

submitted proposals for an extension, which will be discussed at the April SPC meeting for 

consideration. If approved this extension will be required to progress to the CPG for 

consideration.  

 

6. Dublin City Council European Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 - Strategic 

Approach 

The EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 was presented to the Planning & 

Property SPC on 23rd February, the Finance SPC on 25th March; the Climate Action, 

Environment & Energy SPC on 31st March; the Housing SPC on 14th April and will be presented 

to the remaining 2 SPCs during May. The implementation of the strategy is continuing with the 

development of the establishment of the European support Office for the organisation. The full 

council approved allocation of €400,000 to the European Support Office in March, which is 

greatly appreciated. 

7. Dublin City submission to the National Recovery & Resilience Fund - Strategic Approach 

The Department of An Taoiseach launched a public consultation process on the National 

Recovery & Resilience Plan on 2nd February, with a very tight deadline of 22 February for 

the receipt of submissions. A submission on behalf of the organisation was prepared across 

departments and co-ordinated by the Economic Development & International Relations Offices 

within CRES. The submission was progressed via Senior Management, group leaders & CPG. A 

presentation on the City Council’s draft submission to the NRRP was considered by the CPG at 

its meeting on 19 February 2021, in advance of submission. The intensive process pursued in 

preparing the Dublin City Council’s submission to the National Recovery & Resilience Plan 2021 

resulted in a comprehensive submission, ‘Rebuilding Dublin: a Resilient Capital City’, by Dublin 

City Council to the National Recovery & Resilience Plan and submitted to the Department of An 

Taoiseach by the deadline of 22nd February. The final submission contained 7 sections within a 

37 page document highlighting 6 proposal areas (Energy Efficiency, Digital Transformation, 

Greening & Biodiversity, Flood Defences & Resilience, Public Realm and Wellbeing) including 

13 potential projects to the value of €464.2M. A presentation on Dublin City Council’s 

submission to the Recovery and Resilience Plan will be provided at the SPC meeting on 20th 

April 2021. 

8. Dublin City Development Plan – Pre-Draft Consultation  - Strategic Approach 

The Economic Development Office collaborated with our colleagues in the Planning 

Department on the pre-draft consultation process for the Dublin City Development Plan on the 

City Economy chapter. Planning hosted 5 City Development Plan webinars on 25th & 26th 

January, which are part of the Public Consultation process, which ran to 22nd February 2021. 

Webinars included City Economy & Retail; Housing & Community; Heritage & Climate Action; 

Movement & Transport; and Green City & Sustainable Infrastructure. The City Economy & 

Page 122



21 
 

Retail webinar included contributions from EDO. Economic data from DEM and survey results 

and findings from YDYV are being shared with Planning also. As part our EDO’s involvement, a 

Your Dublin Your Voice survey issued in February as part of the public consultation process.   

Projects: 

9. MODOS - Sustainability Training for Business - Climate & Innovation 

To further support businesses in their transition from a linear to a circular business model, a 

series of MODOS webinars on the topic of circular economy and innovation took place in 

January – February.  

The MODOS Innovation Award pilot, in alignment with the suite of LEO offering and products, 

was launched for external applications on 4th March during a MODOS event on Sustainable 

Packaging as part of the Local Enterprise Week 2021. Full details at www.modos.ie. The 

MODOS Innovation pilot will run in Q2 in collaboration with the Regional Waste Office. 

Modos D8 Programme will be delivered in May & June.  

10. Dublin Economic Monitor - Innovation & Transformation 

The launch of the rebranded Dublin Economic Monitor and redeveloped Dublin economy 

website took place on 10th March. The Q1 DEM Publication focusing on Dublin Economy 

Waiting For Take Off was discussed with a panel including Dublin City Council; Grant Thornton, 

CBRE and Indeed. The Q1 DEM is available at www.dublineconomy.ie, hard copies were 

circulated to SPC members in March. The Q2 Dublin Economic Monitor will be developed and 

published in June. 

 

11. European Social Economy Regions 2021 Placemaking & Clusters 

Dublin City Council have been approved to participate in the European Commissions’ European 

Social Economy Regions (ESER) - 2021 Project. (To date Dublin City Council has led Dublin 

involvement in the annual ESER project in 2018, 2019 and 2020). The objective of the project is 

to build networks of Social Economy and Social Enterprise stakeholders and to raise awareness 

about social economies at regional and local levels. The European Social Enterprise Region 

2021 programme kicked off with the Building Social Enterprise Engagement event on 3rd March 

as part of LEW, and contribution to the DCU Hack4Change (12th – 19th Mar). A Social Enterprise 

& Circular Economy event in June & the Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards in Sept will close 

the programme. 

 

12. Public Service Innovation Fund - Climate & Transformation 

Economic Development submitted two applications to the Public Service Innovation Fund 2021 

for the Enfuse programme and the Circular Economy project. Deadline for submission was 28th 

February. Results should be received by late April.  

 

 Events: 
 
13. Event Sponsorship: 

The Economic Development Office provide support to various events across the city 

throughout the year. During 2020, this event sponsorship had been developed to assist in 

supporting identified economic sectors – Tech, Social Enterprise, Green Business / Circular 

Economy, Tourism, Markets, Food and Design. As a result of COVID19, all events were 

postponed during the emergency period and any events held have been provided as a remote 

Page 123

http://www.modos.ie/
http://www.dublineconomy.ie/


22 
 

virtual offering in line with current climate and operational guidelines. We have received a 

number of sponsorship requests for virtual events. We have amended our Event Sponsorship 

procedure and policy has been reviewed and amended as a result. 

14. Dublin Summit Series – Reset Summit - Climate & Transformation 

The Reset Summit 2020 took place in late 2020, with 25 speakers, 4 panels and a keynote 

speech, the Summit considered how to reset and build back a better Dublin following the 

COVID 19 global pandemic and subsequent economic crisis. The Dublin Reset Summit 

outcomes report will be completed by end Q1 identifying key findings & calls to action from 

the Summit. These findings and outcomes report will be presented to the SPC on 20th April. 

 
 

15. Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2020: Placemaking & Clusters 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2021 were launched as part of an event during Local 

Enterprise Week 2021. The initiative is now accepting applications for the 2021 programme. 

The Social Enterprise Awards, managed by Inner City Enterprise and funded by Dublin City 

Council and the Department of Rural and Community Development contain a development 

programme for the awardee social enterprises, including mentoring, training and funding. 

Research: 

16. ENFUSE (previously Enterprise Challenge 2020): Human Development   

The ENFUSE -2021 initiative was launched in early January with new branding and programme. 

The initiative is a collaboration between the LEO, EDO, HEI, students & enterprises. Three 

universities are taking place this year with DCU, TU Dublin and NCAI. The initiative will run 

between February and May 2021; with an award ceremony on 27th May 2021. 

 

17. Your Dublin Your Voice: Placemaking & Clusters  

As part EDO’s collaboration with the Planning Dept. on the pre-draft City Development Plan 

public consultation, which ran to 22nd February 2021, a Your Dublin Your Voice survey issued in 

February as part of the public consultation process. Results of the February (Q1) YDYV survey, 

focusing on City Development Plan, were collated and cleansed in March. This Q1 survey was 

part of the public consultation process for the City Development Plan 2022-2028 co-ordinated 

by the Planning Dept. The second survey of 2021 was dissemination between 23rd March – 2nd 

April on the Dublin place brand; a collaboration with Dublin.ie. Results of the Q2 YDYV survey, 

focusing on Dublin place brand, are currently being collated and cleansed for reporting in April. 

 

Page 124



23 
 

5. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts 

 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 
 
Economic Development & Enterprise  
April 2021 
 
Agenda Item: Smart City Update  

 

Smart Dublin is an initiative of the four Dublin Local Authorities to engage with smart 
technology providers, researchers and citizens to solve challenges and improve city life.  It 
aims to position Dublin as a world leader in the development of new urban solutions, using 
open data, and with the city region as a test bed.  

DCC Smart City Unit under the Smart Dublin umbrella, Dublin City Council has developed a 
world-leading Smart City programme.  It drives forward the use of new technologies to 
improve our city’s operations; improving efficiencies, reducing costs, driving economic 
growth and future proofing our communities.  

Through its Smart City programme, it has turned city challenges into opportunities; using 
new technologies to improve city services. The Smart City Unit works together with 
technology providers, academia and citizens to and data-driven solutions to local 
challenges. The programme is also focused on the roll out of smart districts across the city. 

Smart Districts are strategically selected locations where targeted smart city projects can be 
fast-tracked to measure impact and potential scalability. Each Smart District is unique, with 
bespoke programmes developed to meet the specific needs of the district residents and also 
provide growing businesses with a wider variety of testbed locations. 

Dublin City Council supports three out of the five Smart Dublin districts; Smart Docklands, 
Smart DCU and our latest smart district Smart D8, a smart district focusing on Health and 
Well Being. It has also recently established a Smart Tourism Programme in partnership with 
Failte Ireland. 

 

  

Page 125



24 
 

For more information on Smart Dublin Project, see the Public Trello Board: 
https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board 

Smart City Updates:  

1. Smart D8 

Smart D8 – A Smart Health and Wellbeing District 

The Smart D8 Launch was successfully launched by 

Minister Simon Harris via a live webinar on the 10th 

of March 2021. As part of the launch, the Smart D8 

programme has announced an open call for pilot 

solutions under the themes of Mental HHealth, Health Population and Covid 19 impact. The 

pilot solutions will be reviewed by an evaluation panel and a maximum of two pilots under 

each theme will be funded and trialled in the D8 over the coming months. 

For more information on the pilots, please see: https://smartdublin.ie/smart-d8-call-for-
pilots/  
Launch Press Release: https://libertiesdublin.ie/smart-d8-initiative-launched-to-accelerate-
health-innovation/  
Link to the Launch Webinar: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7UJ6ziCJO9M  
 

2. Academy of the Near Future 

Academy of the Near Future is a smart 

cities education programme being 

developed by Dublin City Council, Smart 

Docklands and CONNECT, the world leading 

Science Foundation Ireland Research 

Centre for Future Networks and 

Communications at Trinity College Dublin. 

At the beginning of 2021, we received Science Foundation Ireland funding to develop a 
version of the programme designed specifically for transition year students. In subsequent 
programme phases, this experience will be built upon to accommodate a wider group of 
learners, from citizens interested in learning more about how technology is changing their 
city, to local authority staff looking to upskill. 

The programme is a blend of hands-on workshops complemented by online learning. 
Learners will be introduced to smart city concepts, the Internet of Things, connectivity 
technologies, and ethical considerations associated with smart cities.  

Since January, we’ve been preparing to deliver the Academy programme at scale. This has 
included hiring a new Programme Delivery Manager and working on the launch of a new 
website that will host the Academy’s educational content. We’ll be launching our transition 
year programme in June this year and engaging 1,000 students across the country over the 
following 12 months. In the later part of this year, we’ll be launching a version of the 
programme for Dublin City Council staff who want to learn more about how smart city 
technologies are affecting their areas of work. Website: https://nearfuture.ie/  

Page 126

https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board
https://smartdublin.ie/smart-d8-call-for-pilots/
https://smartdublin.ie/smart-d8-call-for-pilots/
https://libertiesdublin.ie/smart-d8-initiative-launched-to-accelerate-health-innovation/
https://libertiesdublin.ie/smart-d8-initiative-launched-to-accelerate-health-innovation/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7UJ6ziCJO9M
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fnearfuture.ie%2F&d=1962&t=2178aa5f425706e14906fcc6928d6dc73a4c0673
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fsmartdocklands.ie%2F&d=1962&t=455bbc9b5cd31cdcc19dfe42dc8d105cadbdc0d2
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fsmartdocklands.ie%2F&d=1962&t=455bbc9b5cd31cdcc19dfe42dc8d105cadbdc0d2
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fconnectcentre.ie%2F&d=1962&t=47665804f721bc13875f97e8798f2e50fd482f82
https://nearfuture.ie/


25 
 

 

3. Free Public Wifi for Local Communities  - Wifi4EU  

WIFI4EU is an initative funded by the European 

Commision, the Department of Rual and 

Community Development and Dublin City 

Council and poered by Virgin Media Ireland. 

Virgin Media Ireland Ltd were successful in the 

recent WiFi tender. They have been awarded a 

single supplier framework contract to support 

the rollout of WiFi across Dublin City Council locations. The three main work streams identified 

under the contract which are currently being  focused on are the following: 

1. Wifi4EU – Installation works has begun at a number of the sites identified through the 2019 

public consultation. 

2. Initial engagement has begun with additional DCC sites to install WiFi at various locations 

around the city including the Hugh Lane Gallery. 

3. Innovation led added value – Virgin Media will work with the Smart City team to develop 

projects that help address digital literacy and the digital divide in local communities were 

access to connectivity is limited. Other innovations may include projects that compliment or 

support other smart city projects or programmes e.g. Smart Tourism.  

Dublin City Council’s Smart City team are working towards officially launching the WIFI4EU initiative 

in connection with World WIFI Day, which is on the 20th of June 2021.  

 

4. Smart Tourism Programme 

Smart Tourism focuses on introducing new 

technology and supporting innovation in the 

tourism industry in Dublin. To take advantage 

of the growing intersection of tourism, culture 

and technology, Dublin City Council Culture 

Company, the DCC Smart City team and Fáilte 

Ireland have partnered in collaboration with the  to create a new Smart Tourism work programme, 

under the Smart Dublin initiative. The goal of the Smart Tourism programme is to establish Dublin as 

world-leading ‘Smart Destination’ through innovative projects, research and partnerships. 

Barry Rogers is the Manager for Smart Tourism Programme and will highlight the current 

and proposed projects envisioned under this programme at the SPC meeting on the 20th of 

April. 

Barry’s Email: smarttourism@dublincitycouncilculturecompany.ie  

For any queries in relation to any of the above please contact: 

Jamie Cudden, Smart City Programme Manager Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie  or; Nicola 

Graham, Smart City Operations Manager Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie  

Page 127

mailto:smarttourism@dublincitycouncilculturecompany.ie
mailto:Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie
mailto:Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie


26 
 

 

Page 128



EDE SPC_ Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City_Management Response 1 
 

Motion received from Aidan Sweeney on 7th Sept 2020 - Agenda item SPC 12th Jan 2021: 

 

The below motion was received for the September 2020 SPC but was outside the time limit 

for receipt of motions for the September meeting and so progressed to the November SPC. 

As it was not heard at the Nov meeting; it progressed to the Jan 2021 meeting. 

Motion for the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC 

That Dublin City Council immediately develops a strategy to support urban recovery, 

regeneration and revitalisation of Dublin city. The strategy would be an important pathway 

securing funding through the EU Recovery and Resilience Facility; identify priority projects that 

could access the new EU Cohesion Programmes 2021-2027; and locate other potential sources 

of finance. Dublin City Council should work with the European Investment Bank and State 

bodies to develop projects, which could leverage or blend EU and national funding to support 

the reboot and reimaging of Dublin city.  

 

Management Response: January 2021: 

Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City: 

 

Dublin City Council is actively engaged in supporting urban recovery and regeneration with 

many committed projects that are already underway and plans for new projects under 

development that are designed to improve Dublin city.  The Dublin City Council Capital 

Programme 2020 to 2022 sets out a programme of work that has an estimated value of 

€2.647Billion.  Many of the projects contained in the capital programme will address 

identified deficits in housing provision, flood relief infrastructure, the public realm and culture 

and recreation facilities across the city. 

52% of the planned expenditure relates to Housing and Building, reflecting the ramping up of 

actions under the national Rebuilding Ireland – Action Plan for Housing and Homeless.  The 

delivery of these projects is significantly dependant on grant funding from government 

sources and state agencies making up 77.1% of identified expenditure.  Pursuing this level of 

grant funding is the only way to ensure the successful delivery of this ambitious programme.  

There is a limited lending envelope available to local authorities.  The Capital Programme 

seeks to borrow 4.8% of the funding required.  The CEB, EIB, HFA or other relevant lenders 

may be consulted with a view to securing the necessary borrowings at an attractive rate.  All 

borrowings are subject to approval of the elected members, the Minister for FInance and the 

Minister for Housing, Planning and Local Government. These areas falls within the Housing 

Department. 

 

 

Page 129



EDE SPC_ Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City_Management Response 2 
 

New EU Cohesion Programmes 2021 – 2027 

A significant level of work was completed in Q4 2020; as highlighted throughout this SPC to 

put a process and procedure in place, in relation to examining opportunities within the 

upcoming EU Funding Programmes 2021-2027.   

 

In September 2020, the SPC Working Group on European Affairs and International Relations 

supported a submission on the national and regional dissemination of the European 

Structural Investment Fund (ESIF), the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and the 

European Social Fund (ESF) for the next programme period (2021 – 2027).  

 

The Working Group members agreed a three-step approach to developing and fostering 

increased engagement/participation in EU projects by the City Council. This involved a 3 

stage approach as follows: 

 

Stage Process Timeframe 

Stage 1 Internal Organisation Survey on EU Project Participations  October 2020 

Stage 2 Develop & Deliver Staff and Councillor Info. Sessions November 2020 

Stage 3 Develop European Programme Participation Strategy  December 2020 

 

Stage 1:  Internal Organisation Survey – October 2020 

In the first week in October 2020, a survey questionnaire was issued to all Departments and 

Sections across the organisation. Submissions were received from 8 Departments and 14 

Sections. All data was collated, reviewed and presented to the SPC Working Group on 12th 

October. 

 

Stage 2: Information Sharing Sessions - November 2020 

European Programme information sharing sessions were scheduled and held with speakers 

from National Contact Points for key EU Programmes and staff who had participated in 

projects under these themes. Four information sessions, focusing on Urban & Regional 

Regeneration, Horizon Europe, Smart & Green and Social & Cultural themes, were delivered 

for Dublin City Council staff on 10th, 12th, 17th and 19th November and a full overview 

information session was held for all Councillors on 25th November 2020.  

Info Session Theme Date 

Session 1 Urban & Regional Regeneration 10 November 2020 

Session 2 Horizon Europe 12 November 2020 

Session 3 Smart & Green 17 November 2020 

Session 4 Social & Cultural 19 November 2020 

Session 5 Full Council Briefing 25 November 2020 

 

Page 130



EDE SPC_ Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City_Management Response 3 
 

Stage 3:  Dublin City Council EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 - 

December 2020 

Following the data gathering and information sharing process stages, an EU Programme 

Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 document for future participation for Dublin City Council 

was developed. In addition to maximising the City Council’s participation in EU programmes, 

the Strategy aims to ensure that the City Council benefits from the movement for a stronger 

partnership between the European Commission and city authorities to enable city authorities 

to shape programme priorities based on local development needs.  

 

The draft EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 was presented to Senior 

Management on 14th December 2020 and to the SPC Working Group on 18th December 2020. 

The Strategy was considered and approved by the SPC at its meeting on 12th January 2021. A 

key recommendation is the establishment of an EU Programmes Office in the City Council. 

Work is now underway to implement the strategy recommendations. The Economic 

Development & Enterprise SPC will monitor progress in implementing the Strategy. 

 

The Strategy and preparatory process is being presented to each SPC as per the schedule 

below:  

No SPC Date  

1 Economic Development & Enterprise 12 Jan 2021 

2 Planning  23 Feb 2021 

3 Finance  25 Mar 2021 

4 Climate Action, Environment & Energy 31 Mar 2021 

5 Housing & Community 14 April 2021 

6 Traffic & Transport 5 May 2021 

7 Arts, Culture, Leisure & Recreation 17 May 2021 

 

Reboot and Reimagine Dublin City 

As an initiative of this SPC we held the Dublin Reset Summit in November of last year.  This 

event allowed us to engage with a wide range of stakeholders to share views and insights into 

what Dublin needs to set us on a path to developing our capacity and resilience as a Capital 

city in the face of challenges presented by the Covid 19 pandemic, Brexit and the Climate 

Crisis.  An outcomes report from the Reset Summit has been finalised and will be shared with 

the members of this SPC and with key stakeholders who have a shared interest in promoting 

and championing a strong and resilient Dublin city. 

 

EU Recovery and Resilience Facility Fund 

It is our understanding that decisions on the apportionment of EU Recovery Funds will be 

made by Government.  DPER have been working with the regional assemblies to capture the 

requirements of the local authorities and this work along with inputs from the Regional 

Page 131



EDE SPC_ Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City_Management Response 4 
 

Enterprise plans has informed the development of the National Economic Plan.  The Chair of 

this SPC wrote to DPER in October 2020, on behalf of the members of the International 

Relations and EU Affairs Working Group, seeking further information on plans for how these 

funds will be accessed by the Dublin region.  We have not received a response to date, 

however our understanding is that the government will announce its Economic Plan shortly 

which will include the recovery plan and how EU funding will be accessed. 

 

Update April 2021: 

Access the EU Recovery and Resilience Facility  

The EU’s Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) aims to mitigate the economic and social 

impact of the pandemic and make European economies and societies more sustainable, 

resilient and better prepared for the challenges and opportunities of the green and digital 

transitions. The RRF is the key element of the €750bn Next Generation EU/Recovery Plan.  

 

Ireland is expected to receive €853m in grants under the RRF in 2021 and 2022 (further grants 

will be allocated in 2023, taking into account economic development between now and then). 

In order to access funding, Ireland must develop a National Recovery and Resilience Plan 

(NRRP) for approval by EU. The NRRP Public Consultation outlines the timeframe and 

requirements for plans and projects that may be included.  The NRRP is being developed as 

part of a broader exercise undertaken on the development of a new National Economic Plan 

- a medium term roadmap for economic recovery and renewal, which will include economic 

priorities and policy objectives at a national level.  

 

On 2 February the Department of An Taoiseach launched a public consultation process 

on the National Recovery & Resilience Plan, with a very tight deadline of 22 February for 

the receipt of submissions. The intensive process pursued in preparing the Dublin City 

Council’s submission to the National Recovery & Resilience Plan 2021 resulted in a 

comprehensive submission by Dublin City Council to the National Recovery & Resilience Plan 

within the deadline. The final submission contained 7 sections within a 37 page document 

highlighting 6 proposal areas (Energy Efficiency, Digital Transformation, Greening & 

Biodiversity, Flood Defences & Resilience, Public Realm and Wellbeing) including 13 potential 

projects to the value of €464.2M. 

 

A presentation on the City Council’s draft submission to the NRRP was considered by the CPG at its 

meeting on 19 February 2021, in advance of submission. ‘Rebuilding Dublin: a Resilient Capital City’ 

was submitted to the Department of An Taoiseach on 22 February 2021. A presentation on Dublin City 

Council’s submission to the Recovery and Resilience Plan will be provided at the SPC meeting on 20th 

April 2021. 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



EDE SPC_ Urban Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City_Management Response 5 
 

URDF Funding 

In March 2021, Dublin City Council has been allocated €174.3m for projects under the Urban 

Regeneration and Development Fund (URDF). €121.3m of this allocation will be used to help 

fund projects in the North Inner City, with €53m going towards projects in the South Inner 

City. The funding allocation is provided by the Department of Housing, Local Government and 

Heritage. Since the arrival of Covid-19 in particular we have all seen the hugely important role 

played by libraries, parks, and the public realm in general. Investment in social infrastructure 

is vital for the post-Covid future and this funding allocation is particularly welcome in these 

difficult times. Dublin City Council’s aim is to make Dublin a more liveable City and this URDF 

funding is a huge investment by the Government in that direction. Dublin City Council looks 

forward to putting this funding allocation to the best possible use on behalf of the citizens of 

Dublin. 

 

Office of City Recovery 

Dublin City Council remain committed to the continued response of the impact of Covid 19 to 

the cities citizens, businesses and economy.  The recovery and resilience of the city is key for 

future proofing and therefore the City Council is proposing to establish a City Recovery Office, 

which was approved by Senior Management on 6th April. This is following the establishment 

of Dublin City Council’s City Recovery Task Force to shape a physical, economic, social and 

cultural recovery strategy for the city post Covid-19. The overall objective is to contribute to 

the recovery of the city centre by creating a roadmap for the delivery of the City Council’s 

vision in line with the Government’s plans for relaxing Covid restrictions and for reopening 

the economy. There will be extensive stakeholder engagement during the process. The 

primary focus of the initiative will be on non-residential areas between the Canals to the 

North and South and stopping at Heuston Station in the West. It is proposed that the Task 

Force will have an internal focus dealing with City Council services and those matters that the 

City Council specifically controls and, an external focus dealing with stakeholders and 

addressing their needs post COVID. The initiative will continue until 31 December 2021, at 

which stage it will be subject to review. 

 

Page 133




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Meeting held 12th Jan 2021
	3 Presentation-Dublin City Council Submission to National Recovery & Resilience Plan 2021 - 2023- Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES
	Dublin City Council submission NRRP_SPC_20Apr2021.Presentation pdf

	4 Presentation-Local Enterprise Development Plan 2021 - 2024, Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development
	5 Presentation-Smart Cities Presentation: Smart Tourism, Barry Rogers, Smart Tourism Programme Manager, Smart Dublin
	6 Policy-Reset Summit Outcomes Report, Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development
	7a Tourism, City Markets including Night Time Economy - Completion Report
	7b International Relations & EU Affairs - Extension Request
	8 Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports
	9a Urban Recovery, Regeneration and Revitalisation of Dublin City Strategy

